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It is much better to travel than 
to arrive and that is a belief we
held in 2006.

Looking ahead with a focus 
on new ideas and opportunities,
we are confident of reaping 
the rewards soon.
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• Net Profit After Tax increased 36.9% to $38.0m

• Total Turnover increased 13.3% to $883.3m

• Total Revenue increased 15.2% to $130.7m

• Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) increased 29.5% 
to $62.3m

• Earnings per share (diluted) increased 37% to 33.9cents

• Electronic processing increased to 61% from 57%

• Electronic transactions consist of third party charge cards and bank issue cards (87%) 
and Cabcharge Cards (13%)

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
$m* $m* $m $m $m

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Total Turnover 883.3 779.3 693.5 645.7 588.1

Total Revenue 130.7 113.5 100.3 89.8 63.9

EBITDA** 62.3 48.1 39.5 32.9 25.7

EBIT ** 53.0 36.8 30.6 26.4 21.2

Net Profit 38.0 27.8 23.1 20.3 16.1

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total Assets Employed 228.8 168.9 158.4 145.8 137.8

Shareholders’ Funds 72.4 72.4 71.8 74.4 71.6

cents cents cents cents cents

PER SHARE

Earnings - Basic 33.90 24.80 20.60 18.00 14.70

Earnings - Diluted 33.90 24.80 20.60 18.00 14.60

Ordinary Dividends 23.00 17.00 13.75 12.00 10.00

Net Tangible Assets 111.57 100.43 105.30 104.00 90.40

% % % % %

KEY RATIOS

EBIT/Average Funds Employed 38 36 35 33 32

Return on Contributed Equity 53 38 32 27 22

* Figures for 2005 and 2006 financial year are expressed on the basis of AIFRS standard while earlier year are as previously reported using AGAAP.

** EBIT and EBITDA are shown with equity accounted share of profit of associate.

2006

TOTAL TURNOVER
by transaction type

39%
paper

61%
electronic

Results in Brief

Electronic
Processing

Up to 61%

57%
electronic

43%
paper

2005
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About Cabcharge

Thirty years later and the
Cabcharge electronic payment
system is found in over 
95 per cent of Australian taxis,
limousines and water taxis as
well as fleets around the world.

Cabcharge's customer base
spans more than 44,000
accounts ranging from large
corporations and government
bodies to small business and
individuals.

The success of Cabcharge has
stemmed from its commitment
to continuously look ahead,
seeking new opportunities to
grow, enhance service levels 
and set high standards.

This is a commitment that is
more alive today than ever.

Cabcharge Australia Limited is
the global leader in electronic
payment systems for the
transport sector.

It was founded in 1976 after 
Mr Reginald Kermode, Chairman
and CEO since inception, dared
to develop a system for taxi
operators and drivers to manage
non-cash fares.
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Cabcharge is dedicated to 
the continuous search for
improvement through
innovation, technology and
leadership. Combined with its
unparalleled knowledge of the
taxi industry, professional
management and staff and its
ongoing support from business
partners, stakeholders and
customers, it is well placed to
carry this commitment well into
the future.

Cabcharge holds merchant
agreements with many taxi
companies. The largest taxi
company in Australia, Taxis
Combined Services, which
operates in Sydney, is a 
wholly owned subsidiary 
of Cabcharge.

Many of the other major taxi
companies are shareholders 
of Cabcharge.

In recent years, Cabcharge 
has increased its presence
overseas. The most exciting of
these ventures is Cabcharge’s
investments in joint venture
arrangements in London,
Aberdeen and Edinburgh.
These ventures see Cabcharge
well positioned to rapidly
expand its business through
the UK and Europe. Cabcharge
works closely on its overseas
interests with successful
Singapore-based company,
ComfortDelGro Corporation.

Along with ComfortDelGro
Corporation Limited, Cabcharge
successfully acquired the
business and assets of western
Sydney and Hunter Valley bus
operator, The Westbus Group.

Cabcharge Australia Limited 
is also the owner of Combined
Communications Network
(CCN), an Australian transport
logistics company operating
the country’s largest fleet of
taxis and providing associated
specialist transport services to
support owners, operators 
and drivers.
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Offering greater security – including the 
ability to identify specific lost or stolen cards 
– the eTicket’s possibilities include a facility 
to add a fixed maximum value on each card 
to limit expenditure and to give our clients
more control.

eTicket
Implemented
The eTicket is 
proving a more
convenient, secure
and easy-to-use taxi
travel payment option. 

Cabcharge Australia Limited 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 7
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Executive Chairman’s Report

Overview of 2006
Our focus on “raising the bar”
is obviously paying off and
rejuvenated our longstanding
commitment to our
shareholders and the industries
in which we participate. Our
outstanding results culminated
in our net profit after tax for 
the Cabcharge Group of
Companies reaching $38m
which represents an increase
of 36.9% from our last
financial year.

We remain the leading provider
of integrated services and
systems to the Taxi Industry.
Our implementation of refined
GPRS, EMV and Triple Des
compliant upgrade did result 
in lower bank charges and
communication costs as
predicted and this is reflected
in our results. The system has
resulted in a larger number of
participating Networks, which
is a direct result of increased
coverage across Australia.

Our vision continues to expand
into new areas that will provide
Cabcharge with strategic growth
in other areas of transport. We
believe expansion and our entry
into the private bus industry
with ComfortDelGro is an
excellent example of our plans
to grow our business, details 
of which will be provided later 
in this report.

Our innovation and
technological development 
have opened the door for the
Cabcharge Group to explore 
a number of opportunities 
both within our core business
and beyond.

Other developments for the
Cabcharge Group will be
outlined later in this report.
Firstly, however, I would like to
take you through our financial
performance for the FY 2006.

On behalf of the Board of Directors it is with great pleasure that I am able to
report that FY 2006 was a record financial year for the Group which has
exceeded all expectations.
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Financial
Performance
On behalf of the Board of
Directors I am delighted to 
be in a position of delivering
the best financial result since
Cabcharge listed in 1999.

The consolidated accounts 
for the Cabcharge Group
recorded a net profit of 
$38 million an increase of
36.9% from the 2005 year.
Turnover was increased by
13.3% to $883.3 million.

Our record profit continues 
to translate to better operating
cash flow, which increased
20.4% to $42.3m. The results
can be attributed to:

• Further growth of 36% 
in the processing of bank
issued cards to $253 million
arising via Credit and Debit
transactions;

• Further growth of 2.2% 
in the Cabcharge Charge
Account business to $393m
and;

• Increased growth of 18.3%
in American Express and
Diners Club transactions.

FY 2006 also saw decreased
capital expenditure ($4.3m 
in 2006 as compared with
$20.2m in 2005) which is
attributable to the rollout of 
the 17,000 GPRS EFTPOS
terminals in 2005.

Our balance sheet remains
strong, currently with cash
holdings of $33.2m. This
financial year Cabcharge
contributed $14m in service
payments to participating Taxi
Networks which, we believe,
is vital to ensure continued
growth resulting in healthy
competition between the
Networks from which the

passengers benefit as a result
of the better services offered.

Earnings per share (diluted)
increased by 36.7% to 
33.9 cents. This year
Cabcharge’s dividends
increased by 35% from last
year with dividends totalling 
23 cents per share for the year
– a truly pleasing result.

Cabcharge has reviewed its
revenue recognition policy
following lodgement of the
preliminary final report with 
the ASX. A correction has 
been made to apply a very
strict revenue definition in
accordance with Accounting
Standard AASB 118 whereby
taxi hire changes billed by
Cabcharge have now been
excluded from revenue. This
change has no effect on profit,
cash flows nor the Balance
Sheet of Cabcharge. In the
current year, the impact of 

the change has been to 
reduce revenues by $753m
and correspondingly reduce
expenses by the same amount.
The prior year impact is
$666m. In order to properly
explain the total transaction
values for which Cabcharge is
responsible, a notation is now
made within the revenue note
(note 2) of the accounts to
show Total Turnover.
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Executive Chairman’s Report continued

Ventures with
ComfortDelGro
By 1 October 2005, Cabcharge
Australia Limited, along with
ComfortDelGro Corporation
Limited (Singapore) – the
second largest listed Land
Transport Company in the
world, completed the
acquisition of the assets of 
the Westbus Group. Although
we have not yet been able 
to report on a full year’s
performance of the Westbus
Group, we are very pleased
with the results to date. The
Westbus Group is now owned
and operated by ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd (CDC) of
which Cabcharge owns 49%
with ComfortDelGro owning the
remaining 51%.

CDC has already expanded 
its operations. On acquisition,
the Westbus Group owned 
620 buses and as a result 
of increased services the 
fleet has already to grown 
to 690 buses.

In addition CDC has completed
the purchase of the Thornton
Depot in Newcastle and now
has in place contracts with the
Ministry of Transport in all
Regions in which we operate,
including the Hunter Valley
which was finalised on 
29 September 2006 and
becomes operative on 
1 October 2006.

Negotiations for our plans for
expansion in the United Kingdom
with ComfortDelGro are almost
complete and we hope to
finalise this in the near future.

The call centre merger in the
United Kingdom, between
Aberdeen and Edinburgh,
has been completed and is
performing extremely well.
The economy in the United
Kingdom (particularly in
London) is still recovering and
as a consequence improving
our position.

Core Business
Operations –
Cabcharge
The increased use of electronic
transactions via the Cabcharge
payment system continues to
grow resulting in increased
revenue. Electronic payments
remain the preferred method 
of payment for passengers
representing 61% of all our
transactions. The detail
contained on our customer
receipts at point of sale in the

Taxicab is living proof that what
we are doing is to provide the
service our customers rightly
deserve – that is transparency
and disclosure.

The gradual rollout of the
Cabcharge eTicket has begun.
The eTicket’s intelligence lies
within its magnetically coded
strip. This strip offers greater
security features including the
ability to identify specific lost 
or stolen cards. It sets the
stage for exciting possibilities
including a facility to add a
fixed maximum value on each
card to limit expenditure and 
to also provide our Account
customers with more control.

There are of course
circumstances where the use of
the eTicket is not possible and
this is being addressed as these
areas are being identified.
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Tourism in Australia continues
to recover and various State
and Territory increases in Taxi
fare rates continue to add to
our bottom line, at the same
time enhancing Cabcharge’s
revenue stream. Cabcharge
remains positioned to embrace
evolving technological change
and upgrades when required
by the various regulators.

Technology
Developments, R&D,
New Investments
Cabcharge continues its
commitment to be at the
forefront of the development of
new technology. As discussed
earlier the completion of the
rollout of the refined GPRS
technology with EMV and Triple
DES compliance is reflected in
this year’s results.

With the looming expectation
by some media writers for
mandatory eTag payments 
on all toll roads throughout
Sydney, Cabcharge as part of
its integrated system offers a
superior service to drivers and
passengers alike. We believe
our system demands
transparency and when
integrated with a toll tag it
means that at the end of a
journey both the driver and the
passenger are provided with a
printout of all toll costs as well
as other trip details.

Acquisitions
In line with Cabcharge
acquisition policy there are 
a number of negotiations
currently taking place for
further acquisitions. As
negotiations are still
incomplete, it would be
inappropriate to outline 
them to you. I hope to be 
in a better position to have
concluded negotiations and
disclose intended acquisitions
at our AGM.

We completed the purchase 
of the assets of South Western
Taxis in May 2006. Our plans
to purchase Taxi Services Co-
operative Limited (Newcastle
Taxis) are still on foot. We can
only proceed with our offer
when they have converted from 

a Co-operative to a Public
Company. Upon their
conversion we hope (should
our offer be successful) to
conclude the acquisition by 
the end of this year.

Upon purchasing the assets of
Westbus the number of buses
consisted of 620. As a result 
of the Ministry of Transport
awarding CDC in excess of 
30 extra bus routes our fleet
has now grown to 690. The
government has approved 
the further purchase of 154
buses, of which 114 are for
replacement and 40 for 
further growth in services.
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On 1 September 2006 CDC
finalised the purchase of Baxter
Coach Lines, which is a private
Bus Company operating 
21 buses within Region 3.
A number of other negotiations
for the purchase of other
private bus lines are underway
and will be announced if and
when negotiations are finalised.

All of these acquisitions provide
Cabcharge with an excellent
opportunity to strengthen its
holdings within the Transport
Industry. The business venture
with ComfortDelGro also
provides us with further
opportunity for growth into
other National and International
Transport arenas.

Serving the
Community
Cabcharge continues to
support Taxi Networks across
Australia in their endeavour 
to provide City, Rural and
Regional areas with
sophisticated and advanced
services to meet community
standards for a full range of
taxi related services.

Outlook      
Following record results
throughout this year Cabcharge
remains focused and
committed to continue its path
of growth and expansion.

The Cabcharge Group will
succeed through its honesty
and integrity. These are the
value tools, which Cabcharge
embraces. Mark Twain once
said, “always do right”.
This gratifies some people 
and astounds the rest – 
either way we win.

Appreciation
Cabcharge continues to aspire
to motivate people, lead
organisations, sell ideas, inspire
creativity and deliver quality and
efficiency. Obviously our policy
works, as is evidenced by the
performance of our Board,
Management team and Staff.
Once again I thank them 
for their dedicated efforts.

Our Taxi Operators and Drivers
along with the CDC staff 
should also be commended;
their efforts in serving the
community at times can 
be a difficult job and our
sincere thanks also for 
their dedication.

I look forward with great
enthusiasm to the year 
ahead and also reporting 
our achievements to you 
for the next financial year.

Reg Kermode

Executive Chairman

Executive Chairman’s Report continued
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Community
For over twenty years, Taxi
Networks associated with 
the Cabcharge system have
been assisting people who 
are transport disadvantaged
operate under the various 
State and Territory Disabled
Transport Programs. We
currently manage the NSW 
and Victorian schemes.

From the early 1980’s
Cabcharge has partnered with
State and Territory subsidised
programs and has been a
pioneer in developing suitable
vehicles which assist in
providing wheelchair accessible
taxis to those who need them.

The Industry objective has
always been to develop vehicles
in consultation with disabled
community groups and to
provide the highest level of
service to them.

We train our taxi drivers to
offer a “full service” to the
transport disadvantaged. Not
only do they provide transport
for their clients, many regularly
undertake day-to-day errands
for them during their rounds.
They are on call, seven days 
a week, 24 hours a day.

We are pleased to have many of
these taxi drivers on our team.
Taxi drivers who are motivated
by the desire to help those in
need and serve the community.

Environment
Cabcharge is committed 
to the future of this planet.
As a result, we support 
policies and activities that 
set Cabcharge apart as an
environmentally sound and
socially responsible company.

Our commitments include:

• Waste Management
– reducing paper waste

through the introduction 
of e-Ticket.

– obsolete EFTPOS terminals
are shipped to an approved
secure destruction facility
where they are crushed. All
recyclable materials (including
plastics) are then separated
for reuse wherever possible.

– TCS Smash (our smash
repairer) recycles and filters
all oil products. Its wash
facility uses recycled water.

– recycling of used printer
cartridges and obsolete,
unwanted computer hardware
and related equipment.

– recycling of used cardboard
and paper.

• Energy Consumption

– taxi operators are actively
encouraged to convert 
their taxis to LPG as 
part of their business 
for operating efficiently 
and emission savings.

– using timers to shut 
down air-conditioning 
in its buildings during 
out-of-office hours.

– promoting the use of 
low voltage halogen and
fluorescent lighting.

• Water Conservation
– uses dual flush toilets in 

its buildings.

– in addition to observing the
current water restrictions,
Cabcharge ensures there 
is no watering of any
landscaped areas.
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Early results from the acquisition are
encouraging with indications shareholders 
will be rewarded with a strong and viable
revenue stream.

Cabcharge’s partner in this venture is
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited.

Westbus
Acquisition
Cabcharge has taken 
a 49% interest 
in Western Sydney 
and Hunter Valley 
bus operator,
The Westbus Group.

Cabcharge Australia Limited 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 15
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Directors’ Report

Board of Directors from left to right

Top row: Reginald Kermode, Ewaz Barukh, Ian Armstrong

Middle row: Neill Ford, Philip Franet,

Bottom row: Peter Hyer, Donnald McMichael, Neville Wran
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Dividends
Dividends paid or declared for payment since the end of the previous financial year are as follows:

Date paid or scheduled Type Cents per share Paid or declared $000

In respect of the prior year

18 October 2005 Final 9.0 10,101

In respect of the current year

31 March 2006 Interim 10.0 11,222 

18 October 2006 Final 13.0 14,590 

All dividends paid or declared by the Company were fully franked at a tax rate of 30%.

Review of Operations
A summary of key financial indicators is set out in the table below. Commentary on the results is
included in the Chairman’s report.

2006 2005 Growth %

Total revenue ($m) 130.7 113.5 15

Profit after tax ($m) 38.0 27.8 37

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT – $m) 53.0 36.8 44

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA – $m) 62.3 48.1 30

Earnings per share – basic (cents) 33.9 24.8 37

Contributed equity ($m) 72.4 72.4 0

Capital and reserves ($m) 156.7 140.0 12

Total assets employed ($m) 228.8 168.9 35

Net tangible asset per share (cents) 111.6 100.4 11

Return on contributed equity (%) 52.5 38.4 37

Dividend per share (cents) 23 17.0 35

Dividends paid and declared ($m) 25.8 19.1 35

Dividend payout ratio (%) 67.9 68.7

Franking account balance at 30% tax ($m) 42.8 35.8

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Economic Entity during the year under
review except for its 30 September 2005 acquisition of a significant interest in dominant Western
Sydney bus operator, the Westbus Group. Details of the acquisition, the interest in which is being equity
accounted by Cabcharge, are shown in note 9 within the financial statements. Cabcharge’s capital
contribution of approximately $56m was funded partly by new bank debt ($40m) and the remainder
through use of cash.

Post Balance Date Events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operations of the Economic Entity, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Economic Entity in subsequent financial years other than:

Dividend
The Directors have declared a final dividend of 13 cents per share (fully franked) scheduled to be paid
on 18 October 2006. The record date to determine entitlement to dividend is 20 September 2006.

Expansion of equity accounted operation
Cabcharge’s equity accounted associate ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd (“CDC”) announced on 
26 July 2006 it had acquired the Metropolitan Bus System Contract (“MBSC”) business and associated
assets of Holroyd Bus Lines Pty Ltd (trading as Baxter’s Bus Lines).

The Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited
present their Annual Report on the Company 
and its controlled entities for the year ended 
30 June 2006.

Directors
The Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited in
office at any time during or since the end of the
year are as follows:

Mr RL Kermode Executive Chairman
and CEO

Mr E Barukh Executive CFO

Mr IA Armstrong Non-Executive
Director

Mr ND Ford Non-Executive
Director

Mr PJ Franet Non-Executive
Director

Mr PJ Hyer Non-Executive
Director

Mr DS McMichael Non-Executive
Director

The Hon NK Wran AC QC Non-Executive
Director

All Directors have held office for the full year 
and to the date of this report.

Company Secretary
Ms S Doyle held the position of Company
Secretary at the end of the financial year.
Ms Doyle is admitted as a Solicitor of the
Supreme Court of New South Wales and joined
the Cabcharge group 12 years ago. She was
appointed Company Secretary in 2001 and 
also continues her role as Corporate Counsel.

Principal Activities
The Economic Entity’s principal activity is the
provision of a taxi charge account service
business and related services to the Taxi Industry.

Operating Results
The Economic Entity’s net profit after income tax
attributable to members of Cabcharge Australia
Limited amounted to $38,023,000 (2005:
$27,782,000).
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Directors’ Report continued

Acquisition of new taxi plates 
in Queensland
In August 2006 Cabcharge was successful 
in the tender for 31 new taxi plates issued in
Queensland. Cabcharge won the tender for 
20 Multi-Purpose Taxi (MPT) licences operating
within the Gold Coast region, 10 MPT licences in
the Brisbane region and 1 taxi licence in Brisbane
for a total amount of $20 million.

Future developments
The Directors are of the opinion that the new
financial year will be a period of continued
growth. Other than the information disclosed in
the review of operations or notes to the financial
statements, further information as to the likely
developments in the operations of the Economic
Entity and the expected results of those
operations in subsequent years has not been
included in this report because the Directors
believe, on reasonable grounds, that to include
such information would be likely to result in
unreasonable prejudice to the Economic Entity.

Environmental Issues
The Economic Entity’s operations are not
regulated by any particular and significant
environmental regulations under a law of the
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

Information on Directors
Mr Reginald Lionel Kermode AM MBE
Executive Chairman and CEO
Founder of Cabcharge in 1976, Chairman,
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
since 27 July 1980. Member of the Investment
and Mergers & Acquisitions Committees.
Mr. Kermode is the Deputy Chairman of
ComfortDelGro Corporation Ltd (CDC) which 
is the joint venture company formed with
ComfortDelGro Corporation Ltd (Singapore) 
who hold a 51% stake in CDC and Cabcharge
Australia Ltd who hold a 49% stake in CDC 
to purchase the assets at the Westbus Group.
Mr Kermode is a Director of Cabcharge Asia 
Pte Limited, Director of Computer Cab plc,
London and Director of CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd.
Mr Kermode is also a director of other Cabcharge
Group entities. Mr Kermode is a past President 
of the New South Wales Taxi Council and retired
Director of the NSW Taxi Industry Association.
He is a Fellow of The Australian Institute of
Company Directors and a Fellow of The Australian
Institute of Management.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

Mr Ewaz Barukh Executive CFO
Director since 19 November 1998. Member 
of the Investment and Mergers & Acquisitions
Committees. Mr Barukh is a Director of other
Cabcharge Group entities. He has been the 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
1985, and has significant experience in the 
fields of funds management, technology and 
the Australian taxi industry. Mr Barukh is a
Bachelor of Economics and is an Associate 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

Mr Ian Alexander Armstrong 
Non Executive Director
Director since 17 July 2000. Chairman of the
Audit, Risk & Nomination Committee and a
member of the Mergers & Acquisitions
Committee. Mr Armstrong is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.
He was a partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers
for 23 years of which 15 years were in the field
of corporate finance.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

Mr Neill Douglas Ford 
Non Executive Director
Director since 21 March 1996 and member 
of the Remuneration, Investment and Marketing
Committees. Mr Ford is the Managing Director 
of Yellow Cabs (Qld) Pty Limited and Chairman 
of Taxis Australia Pty Limited. He has in excess 
of 24 years experience in taxi company
management. Mr Ford is a Fellow of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors and
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

Mr Philip James Franet 
Non Executive Director
Director since 28 June 1985. Mr Franet is a
member of the Risk Oversight and Management
Committee. Mr Franet was the Chief Executive
Officer of Silver Top Taxi Service Ltd until his
retirement in late 2005. Mr. Franet is also the
past President of Victorian Taxi Association (inc).
Mr Franet has over 30 years experience in the
taxi industry and has consulted to the Emirate 
of Dubai on the establishment of a large taxi
organisation including the establishment of
charge account services in Dubai.

Directorships of other listed companies held 
at any time throughout the last three years to 
30 June 2006 – nil.

Mr Peter John Hyer 
Non Executive Director
Director since 25 June 1996. Member of the
Remuneration and the Audit, Risk & Nomination
Committees. Mr Hyer is the Chairman and
Managing Director of Adelhill Limited – parent
entity of Premier Cabs Pty Limited, Director of
Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Limited, Director
of Western Districts Cabs (NSW) Pty Limited, and
Director of Northern Districts Taxis (Sydney) Pty
Limited. Mr Hyer is a Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

Mr Donnald Stuart McMichael 
Non Executive Director
Director since 25 June 1996 and member of 
the Risk Oversight & Management Committee.
Mr McMichael is a member of the Australian
Institute of Management and Australian Society 
of Australian Executives. He is an Associate of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors and was
formerly Chairman of Aerial Taxi Co-Op Society
Limited and a Director of Yellow Cabs (Canberra)
Pty Ltd, and a Director of the Fundraising Institute
of Australia (ACT).

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– nil.

The Hon Neville Wran AC QC 
(Hon) LLD (Syd) (Hon) LLD (NSW) FRSA 
Non Executive Director
Mr Wran is a Queen’s Counsel. He was 
Premier of New South Wales from 1976 until 
his resignation in 1986. He is a director of a
number of companies, including ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd (CDC) and Tambour Group
Limited.

From 1986 to 1991 he was Chairman of CSIRO.
Mr Wran represented Australia as a Member of
the Eminent Persons Group of APEC (Asia Pacific
Economic Cooperation) from 1993 to 1995.
He is a Governor of the Australia-Israel Chamber
of Commerce, Honorary Chairman of the 
Trans-Tasman Business Circle, Chairman of 
the Victor Chang Cardiac Research Institute 
and Honorary Trustee of the Lionel Murphy
Foundation, and maintains a broad range of
community interests. He is currently Chairman 
of Wran Partners Pty Ltd, corporate advisers.

Directorships of other listed companies held at
any time during the three years to 30 June 2006
– Mr Wran is currently a director of WebCentral
Group Ltd (ASX code: WCG) and Zinico Resources
NL (ASX code:ZCO).
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Direct Interest Shares Indirect Interest Shares Note

Relevant Interests
Executive Directors

RL Kermode (CEO) 1,046,049 -  

E Barukh (CFO) 395,630 25,477 1

Non-Executive Directors

IA Armstrong 250,000 -  

ND Ford -  1,334,423 2

PJ Franet 350,370 -  

PJ Hyer -  1,171,260 3

DS McMichael 830 7,500 4

NK Wran 184,800 65,200 5

1 25,477 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held jointly by Mr Ewaz Barukh and Mrs Katherine Barukh.

2 1,060,288 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Queensland Taxi Investments Pty Limited in which 
Mr Ford is a Director and Shareholder; 274,135 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by NL Ford
Nominees Pty Ltd Super Fund.

3 166,667 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Windcode Pty Ltd; 1,004,593 shares held by 
Adelhill Limited in which Mr Hyer is Chairman, Managing Director and Shareholder.

4 7,500 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Donren Holdings Superannuation account.

5 65,200 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Isiwood Pty Ltd, in which Mr Wran is a Director 
and Shareholder.

Share Options
No share options were granted during the 
year and to the date of this report, and there
were no options outstanding at the end of the
financial year.

Contracts with Directors
There are no contracts –

(i) to which a Director is a party or under which
a Director is entitled to a benefit, and

(ii) that confers a right to call for or deliver
shares in, or debentures of or interests in a
registered scheme made available by the
Company or a related body corporate.

Other Interests
No Director has relevant interests in, or rights 
or options over debentures, or interests in a
registered scheme made available by the
Company or a related body corporate.

Meetings of Directors
The number of Directors’ Meetings which Directors were eligible to attend (including Committee Meetings) and the number attended by each Director during
the year ended 30 June 2006 were:

Directors Meetings Committee Meetings

Audit, Risk & Risk Oversight &
Nomination Remuneration Investment Management 
Committee Committee Committee Committee

Number Number Number Number Number 
Eligible to Number Eligible to Number Eligible to Number Eligible to Number Eligible to Number

Attend Attended Attend Attended Attend Attended Attend Attended Attend Attended

RL Kermode (CEO) 9 9 – – – – 2 2 – – 

E Barukh (CFO) 9 9 – – – – 2 2 – – 

IA Armstrong 9 9 2 2 – – – – – – 

ND Ford 9 7 – – 2 2 2 2 – – 

PJ Franet 9 8 – – – – – – 2 2 

PJ Hyer 9 9 2 2 2 2 – – – – 

DS McMichael 9 9 – – – – – – 2 2 

NK Wran 9 9 2 2 – – – – – – 
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Remuneration Report
Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) Compensation

(a) Names and positions held within Economic and Parent Entity KMP in office at any time during the financial year are:

Name of KMP Dates (if not full year) Position

Mr RL Kermode Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr E Barukh Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mr IA Armstrong Non-executive Director

Mr ND Ford Non-executive Director

Mr PJ Franet Non-executive Director

Mr PJ Hyer Non-executive Director

Mr DS McMichael Non-executive Director

Mr NK Wran Non-executive Director

Mr F Lukabyo Chief Operating Officer of Combined Communications Network

Ms S Doyle Company Secretary & Corporate Counsel

Mr G Bradd until 1 March 2006 Chief Operating Officer of Black Cabs Combined

Mr A Skelton from 1 March 2006 * Chief Operating Officer of Black Cabs Combined (General Manager prior to 1 March 2006)

Ms A Rein from 31 October 2005 Chief Executive–People and Business Improvement

* As Mr Skelton was employed in a senior role during the full financial year, his remuneration for the full year has been shown in note c) below.

(b) Compensation practices

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of compensation for KMP for the group is as follows:

The compensation structure for KMP is based on a number of factors including length of service, particular experience of the individual concerned, and overall
performance of the Company. Contracts for service between the Company and KMP are on a continuing basis, the terms of which are not expected to change
in the immediate future. Upon retirement, KMP are paid employee benefit entitlements accrued to the date of retirement. KMP are paid a percentage of their
salary in the event of redundancy.

The Cabcharge group seeks to emphasise payment for results through providing cash bonus reward schemes, specifically the incorporation of incentive
payments to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer based on achievement of profit targets. These are determined by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time and are approved by the Board.

The bonuses noted below are based on these targets. The objective of the reward scheme is to reinforce both short- and long-term goals of the group and to
provide a connection of interest between management and shareholders. The bonuses were granted on 29 October 2005.

Non-executive Directors receive fees only and are not paid performance based payments.

There are no service agreements and no fixed terms for the Executive Directors. For Executive Directors, a base salary package and performance bonus is
determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board from time to time.

There are service agreements for other executive KMP, the major provisions of which are 3 year terms with 3 months notice of termination or redundancy required.

Directors’ Report continued
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(c) KMP compensation:

Post-employment 
Short-term benefits benefits

Cash bonus 
Cash salary Non-cash (performance Superannuation Performance

and fees benefits related) contributions Total 2006 related 

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) %

2006 year:

Mr RL Kermode 1,303,270 22,718 350,000 – 1,675,988 21%

Mr E Barukh 540,380 97,480 195,000 12,140 845,000 23%

Mr IA Armstrong 6,900 – 80,637 87,537 –

Mr ND Ford 80,310 – – 7,227 87,537 –

Mr PJ Franet 32,872 – – 47,321 80,193 –

Mr PJ Hyer 80,310 – – 7,227 87,537 –

Mr DS McMichael 73,572 – – 6,621 80,193 –

Mr NK Wran 87,537 – – – 87,537 –

Mr F Lukabyo 310,660 21,248 – 16,066 347,974 –

Ms S Doyle 386,773 10,777 – 12,373 409,923 –

Mr G Bradd 127,680 29,574 – 92,450 249,704 –

Mr A Skelton 201,198 14,250 – 19,272 234,720 –

Ms A Rein 179,694 – – 17,937 197,631 –

Total remuneration for KMP for 2006 year 3,411,156 196,047 545,000 319,271 4,471,474 

2005 year:

Mr RL Kermode 1,158,846 14,564 388,350 – 1,561,760 25%

Mr E Barukh 468,526 105,388 195,000 88,586 857,500 23%

Mr IA Armstrong 6,900 – – 61,560 68,460 –

Mr ND Ford 62,805 – – 5,655 68,460 –

Mr PJ Franet 57,550 – – 5,180 62,730 –

Mr PJ Hyer 62,805 – – 5,655 68,460 –

Mr DS McMichael 57,550 – – 5,180 62,730 –

Mr NK Wran 68,460 – – – 68,460 –

Mr F Lukabyo 284,000 7,612 – 11,808 303,420 –

Ms S Doyle 297,494 12,585 – 12,864 322,943 –

Mr G Bradd 181,841 24,568 – 93,591 300,000 –

Total remuneration for KMP for 2005 year 2,706,777 164,717 583,350 290,079 3,744,923 
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(d) Number of shares held (directly or indirectly) by KMP:

Balance at Received as Balance at
beginning of year compensation Net change * end of year

Mr RL Kermode 1,500,000 – (453,151) 1,046,849 

Mr E Barukh 571,107 – (150,000) 421,107 

Mr IA Armstrong 250,000 – – 250,000 

Mr ND Ford 1,965,736 – (631,313) 1,334,423 

Mr PJ Franet 350,370 – – 350,370 

Mr PJ Hyer 1,171,260 – – 1,171,260 

Mr DS McMichael 8,330 – – 8,330 

Mr NK Wran 250,000 – – 250,000 

Mr F Lukabyo 3,850 – (1,400) 2,450 

Ms S Doyle 2,500 – – 2,500 

Mr G Bradd 30,000 – (25,000) 5,000 

Mr A Skelton – – – –

Ms A Rein – – – –

6,103,153 – (1,260,864) 4,842,289 

* Net change refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year.

Non-audit Services by Auditors
Non-audit services provided by the auditors of the consolidated entity were for the provision of taxation compliance services for which fees were paid or
payable of $24,000 (2005: $20,000). The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed under the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The lead auditor’s independence declaration in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 is printed immediately following this report.

Rounding of amounts to nearest thousand dollars
Cabcharge is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the
financial report and the directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors

Neville Wran Peter Hyer
Director Director

Sydney, 29 September 2006.

Directors’ Report continued
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

To the Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited:

In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, for the audit for the financial year ended
30 June 2006 there have been:

1. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001; and

2. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct 

Blackett & Lewis 
Chartered Accountants

Bryan Bird 
Partner

Sydney, 29 September 2006.
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The Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited is
responsible for the Corporate Governance of the
Company. In accordance with the Australian Stock
Exchange Corporate Governance Council’s
“Principles of Good Corporate Governance and
Best Practice Recommendations” Cabcharge
reviewed its governance policies and procedures
and a summary of the Company’s policies and
procedures is as follows:

PRINCIPLE 1:
Lay Foundations for 
Management and Oversight
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “recognise and publish
the respective roles and responsibilities of Board
and management.”

The Cabcharge Board has adopted a Charter,
which sets out the functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management.

The Cabcharge Board is responsible for:

• oversight of Cabcharge, including its control
and accountability systems

• appointment and removal of the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer 
and the Company Secretary

• input into and final approval of management’s
development of corporate strategy and
performance objectives

• reviewing and ratifying systems of risk
management and internal compliance and
control, codes of conduct and legal compliance

• monitoring senior management’s performance
and implementation of strategy and ensuring
appropriate resources are available

• approving and monitoring the progress of
major capital expenditure, capital management
and acquisitions and divestitures

• approving and monitoring financial and other
reporting.

The Board reviews its composition and processes
annually. Cabcharge also ensures that Directors
clearly understand corporate expectations of them.

PRINCIPLE 2:
Structure the Board to Add Value
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that
a company should “have a Board of an effective
composition, size and commitment to adequately
discharge its responsibilities and duties.”

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to
the position of Director held by each Director in
office at the date of the Annual Report are set out
on page 18. The term of office held by each
Director in office at the date of the Annual Report
is as follows.

Term in Office 
Name (years)

Mr Reg Kermode 26

Mr Ewaz Barukh 7

Mr Phillip Franet 21

Mr Ian Armstrong 6

Mr Neville Wran 5

Mr Donnald McMichael 10

Mr Neill Ford 10

Mr Peter Hyer 10

It is recommended that a majority of the Board
should be independent Directors. An independent
Director is a Non-Executive Director and:

• is not a substantial shareholder of Cabcharge or
an officer of, or directly or indirectly associated
with, a substantial shareholder of Cabcharge

• within the last three years has not been
employed in an executive capacity by
Cabcharge or another group member, or been
a Director after ceasing to hold any such
employment

• within the last three years has not been a
principal of a material professional advisor or
a material consultant to Cabcharge or another
group member, or an employee materially
associated with the service provided

• is not a material supplier or customer of
Cabcharge or any other group member, or an
officer of or otherwise associated directly or
indirectly with a material supplier or customer

• has no material contractual relationship with
Cabcharge or another group member other
than as a Director of Cabcharge

• has not served on the Board for a period
which could, or could reasonably be perceived
to materially interfere with the Director’s ability
to act in the best interests of Cabcharge

• is free from any interest and any business or
relationship, which could, or could reasonably
be perceived to materially interfere with the
Director’s ability to act in the best interests 
of Cabcharge.

In determining whether an interest or relationship
is considered to interfere with a Director’s
independence, the Board has regard to the
materiality of the interest or relationship. If a
Director has a current or prior association with 
a supplier, professional advisor or consultant to
Cabcharge that supplier, advisor or consultant will
be considered material:

• in relation to Cabcharge if any amount
payable annually to the supplier, advisor 
or consultant is in excess of 5% of the
consolidated expenses of the Cabcharge
group

• in relation to a Director if that amount
exceeds 5% of the supplier’s, advisor’s or
consultant’s total revenues.

A customer of Cabcharge would also be
considered material if the annual amount received
by Cabcharge from the customer exceeded 5% of
the consolidated revenue of the Cabcharge group
and from a Director’s point of view if that amount
exceeds 5% of the customer’s total expenses.

None of the Non-Executive Director’s
relationships with Cabcharge meet the criteria 
in relation to the 5% materiality threshold.
Other factors however are also taken into account
for the purpose of assessing the materiality of
relationships between a Non-Executive Director
and Cabcharge and these factors relate to 
Non-Executive Director activities as a whole.

Taking into account the terms of service and
relationship with Cabcharge the Company is 
of the view that the following Directors are not
independent:

Mr Peter Hyer
Mr Neill Ford
Mr Donnald McMichael
Mr Phillip Franet

The ASX Guidelines recommend that a listed
company should have a majority of Directors 
who are independent.

The Cabcharge Board as currently composed
does not comply with this recommendation.

Mr Wran and Mr Armstrong do qualify as
independent Directors. As a result of the
consideration given the Board has determined that
neither Mr Wran nor Mr Armstrong has any past or
present relationships which breach the materiality
threshold or that in the context of their activities as
a whole neither Mr Wran nor Mr Armstrong has a
relationship considered significant enough to
compromise their independence.

Notwithstanding that the majority of Cabcharge
Directors are not independent, Mr Hyer,
Mr Franet, Mr Ford and Mr McMichael are
segregated from operational management of
Cabcharge in particular its wholly owned Taxi
Network subsidiaries and their commercial
knowledge and expertise within the taxi industry
enables them to effectively carry out their
responsibilities in accordance with the 
Board Charter.

The Board of Cabcharge has implemented a
procedure whereby Directors may take independent
professional advice at Cabcharge’s expense on
matters relating to their role as Directors of
Cabcharge. Approval for such advice must be
sought from the Chairman and such approval may
not be reasonably withheld. If approval is withheld,
the Director seeking advice may refer the matter to
the whole Cabcharge Board.
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The ASX Guidelines also recommend the roles of
Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer should
not be exercised by the same individual. Currently
Cabcharge does not comply with this guideline.
The role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Cabcharge is held by Mr Reg Kermode who
has held these positions since 27 July 1980.
Mr Kermode’s leadership and expertise within the
taxi industry along with his long-term vision for
Cabcharge has seen the Company grow from a
small operation to a company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange currently capitalised 
at approximately $711 million for the year ended
30 June 2006. At the time this report was
prepared Cabcharge was capitalised at
approximately $880 million. The increase in 
share price can be attributed specifically to the
performance of the Cabcharge Group throughout
the financial year 2006. The success and
continued growth of Cabcharge over the last 
26 years is largely attributable to Mr Kermode’s
performance and vision for the Cabcharge Group
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Given
the financial success of Cabcharge, the Board
believes it to be inappropriate and unnecessary 
to separate the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer at this time.

Nomination Committee
Due to the size of the Cabcharge Board and
Company it was determined that while a
Nomination Committee should be established, the
duties of the Nomination Committee should be
carried out by the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Committee is comprised of Mr Ian Armstrong
(Chairman), Mr Neville Wran and Mr Peter Hyer.
The Committee has a Charter that clearly sets out
its role and responsibilities, composition, structure
and membership requirements. Responsibilities of
the Committee include:

• assessment of the necessary and desirable
competencies of the Cabcharge Board
members

• review of the Cabcharge Board succession
plans

• evaluation of the Cabcharge Board’s
performance

• recommendations for the appointment and
removal of Cabcharge Directors.

The number of Committee meetings held and
attendees are set out in the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 3:
Code of Ethics and Conduct
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “actively promote ethical
and responsible decision making”.

The Cabcharge Board has established a Code 
of Conduct to guide its Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer 

and its key executives in relation to:

• the practices necessary to maintain
confidence in Cabcharge’s integrity

• the responsibility and accountability of
individuals for reporting and investigating
reports of unethical practices.

The Cabcharge Board has established a Code 
of Ethics and Conduct which addresses the
following issues:

• Conflicts of interest – managing situations
where the interest of a private individual
interferes or appears to interfere with the
interests of Cabcharge as a whole.

• Corporate opportunities – preventing
Directors and key executives from taking
advantage of property, information or position
or opportunities arising from these for
personal gain or to compete with Cabcharge.

• Confidentiality – restricting the use of 
non-public information except where
disclosure is authorised or legally mandated.

• Fair dealing – by all employees with
Cabcharge’s customers, suppliers,
competitors and employees.

• Protection of and proper use of the
Company’s assets – protecting and ensuring
the efficient use of assets for legitimate
business purposes.

• Compliance with laws and regulations 
– active promotion of compliance.

• Encouraging the reporting of
unlawful/unethical behaviour

• active promotion of ethical behaviour and
protection for those who report violations in
good faith.

Dealing Rules
Cabcharge also has in place a policy concerning
trading in Cabcharge securities by Directors,
officers and employees.

The Cabcharge policy in relation to the trading of
Cabcharge shares encompasses the following:

• clearly identifies the Directors, Officers and
employees who are restricted from trading
(Designated Officers)

• identifies and raises awareness about 
the prohibitions under the law and the
requirements of the policy. The policy 
makes it clear that it is inappropriate for 
the Designated Officer to procure or to trade
when the Designated Officer is precluded
from trading and provides awareness of 
the need to enforce confidentiality against
external advisors

• requires Designated Officers to provide
notification to the Chief Executive Officer 
(with the CEO notifying the Board of Directors)

• confirmation of any trading

• sets out the black out periods

• specifies if there is any discretion to permit
trading by Designated Officers in specific
circumstances

• specifies whether Cabcharge prohibits
Designated Officers from entering into
transactions in associated products which
operate to limit the economic risk of their
security holdings in the company.

PRINCIPLE 4:
Safeguard Integrity 
in Financial Reporting
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “have a structure to
independently verify and safeguard the integrity
of the Company’s financial reporting”.

The Audit, Risk and Nomination Committee is
constituted in accordance with ASX Guidelines
with its requirements set out in the Audit and
Risk Committee Charter. The Committee has
three members, Mr Ian Armstrong, Mr Peter Hyer
and Mr Neville Wran. In accordance with ASX
Guidelines the majority of the members are
independent Directors and all members are 
Non-Executive Directors.

The Committee’s primary responsibility is verifying
and safeguarding the integrity of the Company’s
financial reporting. The composition of the
Committee is such that it exercises independent
judgement in accordance with ASX Guidelines.

All members of the Committee are financially
literate in accordance with ASX Guidelines.
Mr Armstrong (Chairman) was a partner with
PricewaterhouseCoopers for twenty three years,
of which fifteen years were in the field of
corporate finance. Mr Armstrong is also a fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.

Mr Hyer is Chairman and Managing Director of
Adelhill Limited which is the parent entity of
Premier Cabs.

Mr Wran served as Premier of New South Wales
from 1976 to 1986 and is now Executive
Chairman of Wran Partners Pty Ltd. Mr Wran is
also a director of a number of other companies.

The number of Committee meetings held and the
attendees are set out in the Directors’ Report.
The Committee reports to the Board and minutes
of each Committee meeting are included in the
papers for the next full Board meeting.

PRINCIPLE 5:
Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “promote timely and
balanced disclosure of all material matters
concerning the Company”. Cabcharge has in
place mechanisms designed to ensure
compliance with ASX Listing Rules such that:
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

• all investors have equal and timely access to
material information concerning Cabcharge –
including its financial situation, performance
and governance

• company announcements are factual and
presented in a clear and balanced way –
balance requires disclosure of positive and
negative information.

Cabcharge has a Charter which outlines the
process and policies in relation to disclosure to
the market. The processes in place ensure that
company announcements:

• are made in a timely manner

• are factual

• do not omit material information

• are expressed in a clear and objective
manner that allows investors to assess the
impact of the information when making
investment decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer has ultimate authority
and responsibility for approving market disclosure.
Each announcement is reviewed by the Board and
the Board considers if any items of business dealt
with should be disclosed to the market.

PRINCIPLE 6:
Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “respect the rights of a
shareholder and facilitate the effective exercise 
of those rights”.

Cabcharge has a shareholder communication
policy which highlights Cabcharge’s commitment
to transparency in its dealings with shareholders,
analysts, investors and the market generally.
Cabcharge encourages shareholder participation
at shareholder meetings and is committed to
dealing promptly and effectively with shareholder
enquiries. Copies of Board Charters and other
policies approved by the Board are available from
Cabcharge upon request.

The Cabcharge Annual Meeting is convened 
in accordance with applicable laws and rules.
Cabcharge encourages shareholders to
participate at the AGM by making comments and
requesting information from Board members and
Cabcharge’s Auditors who attend each Cabcharge
AGM and are available to answer shareholder
questions in relation to audit procedures and
audited accounts.

Cabcharge keeps shareholders informed by
making company announcements as well as
sending the yearly reports. All announcements
are placed on the Cabcharge website after they
have been released to the market.

PRINCIPLE 7:
Recognise and Manage Risk
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “establish a sound system
of risk and oversight management and internal
control”. The system adopted by Cabcharge is
designed to:

• identify, assess, monitor and manage risk

• inform investors of material changes to
Cabcharge’s risk profile.

Cabcharge has appointed a Risk Oversight and
Management Committee. The Committee has in
place policies in relation to:

• oversight of the risk management system

• risk profile

• risk management and compliance and control

• assessment of effectiveness.

The policy also clearly describes the role and
respective accountabilities of the Cabcharge
Board, the Audit Risk and Nomination Committee,
management and internal audit functions. A policy
is in place in relation to the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer providing a
statement to the Board that to the best of their
knowledge the integrity of the financial statements
is founded on a sound system of risk management
and internal compliance and control which
implements policies adopted by the Board and 
that Cabcharge’s risk management and internal
compliance and control system is operating
efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

The Risk Oversight and Management Committee
prepares a report for the Audit Risk and Nomination
Committee. The Audit Risk and Nomination
Committee then reviews the processes in place 
and the report of the Committee. The report is 
then presented to the Board for discussion.

The Risk Oversight and Management Committee
is comprised of Mr Phillip Franet and Mr Donnald
McMichael. Details in relation to the number of
meetings held and attendees are set out in the
Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 8:
Encourage Enhanced Performance 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “fairly review and actively
encourage enhanced Board and management”.

Cabcharge has adopted a policy in relation to 
the assessment of the performance of the Board
(including committees), the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and key
executives. The Audit Risk and Nomination
Committee assesses the framework and
processes in place to assess performance and
regularly reviews the effectiveness of the policy.

Cabcharge has also implemented induction
procedures designed to allow new Board

appointees to participate fully and actively in
Cabcharge Board decision making at the earliest
opportunity. The induction program is designed to
enable Directors to gain an understanding of:

• Cabcharge’s financial, strategic, operational
and risk management position

• Cabcharge Directors’ rights, duties and
responsibilities

• The role of Cabcharge Board committees.

Directors and key executives also have access to
continuing education to update and enhance their
skills. All Cabcharge Directors have access to
information including:

• Access to the procedure agreed by the Board
for Directors to take independent professional
advice as outlined earlier

• Access to the Company Secretary.

The appointment and removal of the Company
Secretary is a matter for decision by the
Cabcharge Board as a whole. The Company
Secretary is accountable to the Board through 
the Chairman on all governance matters.

PRINCIPLE 9:
Remunerate Fairly and Responsibility
The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr Hyer
and Mr Ford and the Committee has in place
policies to ensure transparency and full
disclosure in relation to the amount of
remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary
components for each Director and of each of the
five highest paid executives during the year.
Details of the number of meetings and attendees
are set out in the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 10:
Recognise the Legitimate Interests 
of Shareholders
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states
that a company should “recognise legal and 
other obligations to legitimate stakeholders”.
Cabcharge demands a high standard of ethical
corporate behaviour from all Directors and staff.
The Cabcharge Code of Ethics and Conduct
includes guidelines for:

• clear commitment by the Board and
management to the code of conduct

• responsibilities to shareholders and the
financial community generally

• responsibility to clients, customers and
consumers

• employment practices

• obligations relative to fair trading and dealing

• responsibilities to the community

• responsibilities to the individual

• how Cabcharge complies with legislation
affecting its operations

• how the Company monitors and ensures
compliance with the code.
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Income Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
Notes $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 

Revenue 2 130,735 113,535 87,081 63,089

Other Income 2 115 81 – –

Processing fees to taxi networks (9,740) (8,869) (14,006) (12,863)

Costs of members taxi related services (20,046) (17,551) – –

Employee benefits expenses (24,585) (22,951) (7,758) (6,354)

Administrative expenses (6,788) (5,482) (2,365) (2,163)

Transaction processing expenses (3,972) (4,745) (3,972) (4,745)

Depreciation 3 (9,299) (10,811) (5,546) (6,775)

Finance costs 3 (2,442) (502) (2,018) –

Other expenses (3,783) (3,834) (2,393) (2,332)

Share of net profit of associate company 9(b) 2,510 – – –

Profit before income tax expense 52,705 38,871 49,023 27,857 

Income tax expense 4 (14,682) (11,089) (10,244) (7,937)

Profit attributable to members of Cabcharge Australia Ltd 38,023 27,782 38,779 19,920

Basic earnings per share 25 33.90 cents 24.80 cents 

Diluted earnings per share 25 33.90 cents 24.80 cents

The Income Statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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Balance Sheets
as at 30 June 2006

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
Notes $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 33,184 38,259 3,042 7,614

Trade and other receivables 6 58,854 51,245 52,170 48,293

Inventories 7 774 682 –   –

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 92,812 90,186 55,212 55,907 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Financial assets 8 5,310 5,765 229,653 174,582

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 9 58,054 –   –  –

Property, plant and equipment 10 36,288 41,540 20,341 22,759

Deferred tax assets 11 4,783 3,989 2,036 615 

Intangible assets 12 31,547 27,330 5,506 2,906 

Other 13 – 168 – –

TOTAL NON–CURRENT ASSETS 135,982 78,792 257,536 200,862

TOTAL ASSETS 228,794 168,978 312,748 256,769

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 12,533 12,116 9,867 17,717

Short-term borrowings 15 15,851 7,779 10,000 –

Current tax liabilities 16 6,918 3,182 6,896 3,126

Short-term provisions 17 2,763 2,468 1,777 908

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 38,065 25,545 28,540 21,751

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-interest bearing liability — within the Group — Non-current 18 –   –   117,094 117,094 

Long-term borrowings 19 30,038 477 30,000 –

Deferred tax liabilities 20 394 384 394 384

Long-term provisions 21 3,524 2,522 2,564 860

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 33,956 3,383 150,052 118,338

TOTAL LIABILITIES 72,021 28,928 178,592 140,089 

NET ASSETS 156,773 140,050 134,156 116,680 

EQUITY

Issued share capital 22 72,431 72,431 72,431 72,431 

Reserves 923 900 896 876 

Retained earnings 83,419 66,719 60,829 43,373

TOTAL EQUITY 156,773 140,050 134,156 116,680

The Balance Sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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Cash Flows Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
Notes $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers and others 888,223 777,913 838,527 735,687 

Payments to suppliers, licensees and employees (834,363) (732,794) (801,717) (698,636)

Dividends received 164 160 13,942 158 

Interest received 2,194 2,523 751 1,035 

Finance costs paid (2,150) (129) (2,018) –

Income tax paid (11,751) (12,819) (11,751) (12,618)

Net Cash provided by operating activities 32(a) 42,317 34,854 37,734 25,626 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,302) (19,929) (3,128) (15,056)

Purchase of investments

Investment in associate (55,544) – (55,544) –

Payment for intangibles (4,217) (2,698) (2,600) (150)

Other investments – (404) – (20)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 370 718 – –

Proceeds from sale of investment 289 – 289 –

Net Cash (used in) Investing Activities (63,404) (22,313) (60,983) (15,226) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 40,000 – 40,000 –

Repayment of borrowings (2,665) (2,795) – –

Dividends paid 24 (21,323) (17,103) (21,323) (17,103)

Net Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,012 (19,898) 18,677 (17,103)

Net (decrease) in cash held (5,075) (7,357) (4,572) (6,703)

Cash at the beginning of the year 38,259 45,616 7,614 14,317 

Cash at the end of the financial year 5 33,184 38,259 3,042 7,614 

The Cash Flow Statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Share
Share Revaluation repurchase Retained Total 

capital reserve reserve profits equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ECONOMIC ENTITY

Balance at 1 July 2004 71,791 553 – 56,040 128,384

Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities 496 496 

Income taxes relating to items credited to equity (149) (149)

Sub-total – 347 – – 347 

Profit for the period 27,782 27,782 

Total recognised income and expense for the year – 347 – 27,782 28,129

Dividends recognised during the year (17,103) (17,103)

Shares issued 640 640 

Buy-back of cross-holding shares (5,680) (5,680)

Reversal of previous period’s elimination 4,717 963 5,680

Transfer from share repurchase reserve 963 (963) –

Balance at 30 June 2005 72,431 900 – 66,719 140,050 

Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities 33 33 

Income taxes relating to items credited to equity (10) (10)

Sub-total – 23 – – 23 

Profit for the period 38,023 38,023 

Total recognised income and expense for the year – 23 – 38,023 38,046 

Dividends recognised during the year (note 24) (21,323) (21,323)

Balance at 30 June 2006 72,431 923 – 83,419 156,773

PARENT ENTITY

Balance at 1 July 2004 76,508 533 – 40,556 117,597 

Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities 492 492 

Income taxes relating to items credited to equity (149) (149)

Sub-total – 343 – – 343

Profit for the period 19,920 19,920 

Total recognised income and expense for the year – 343 – 19,920 20,263 

Dividends recognised during the year (17,103) (17,103)

Shares issued 640 640 

Buy-back of cross-holding shares (5,680) (5,680)

Difference arising from buy-back of ABC Taxis shares 963 963 

Transfer from share repurchase reserve 963 (963) –

Balance at 30 June 2005 72,431 876 – 43,373 116,680 

Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities 30 30 

Income taxes relating to items credited to equity (10) (10)

Sub-total – 20 – – 20

Profit for the period 38,779 38,779 

Total recognised income and expense for the year – 20 – 38,779 38,799

Dividends recognised during the year (note 24) (21,323) (21,323)

Balance at 30 June 2006 72,431 896 – 60,829 134,156

The Statement of Changes in Equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

1 Statement of Significant
Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of compliance 
The financial report of Cabcharge Australia
Limited complies with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS), in their entirety.
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the
financial report also complies with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) in their entirety. The report also 
has been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001.

Cabcharge Australia Limited is a listed 
public company, incorporated and domiciled
in Australia.

The accounting policies adopted in this
report have been consistently applied by
each entity in the Economic Entity and, other
than noted above, are consistent with those
of the previous year.

The current reporting year in the final report
is the year ended 30 June 2006 while the
prior year is the year ended 30 June 2005.

(b) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of
Cabcharge Australia Limited and its
controlled entities.The financial statements
of subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the parent company,
using consistent accounting policies.

A list of controlled entities is contained in
Note 29 to the financial statements. All
intercompany balances and transactions,
including unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions, have been
eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group
and cease to be consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred out of the
Group. Where there is loss of control of 
a subsidiary, the consolidated financial
statements include the results for the 
part of the reporting period during which
Cabcharge Australia Limited has control.

(c) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost are
assigned on a first-in first-out basis and
include direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overhead expenses.

(d) Investment in Associates
Cabcharge Australia’s investment in its
associates is accounted for under the equity
method of accounting in the consolidated
financial statements. These are entities in
which the Group has significant influence
and which are neither a subsidiary nor a 
joint venture.

The financial statements or management
accounts of the associate are used by the
Group to apply the equity method. Reporting
dates of the associate vary from that of the
Group, but management accounts for the
period to the Group’s balance date are used
for equity accounting.

The investment in the associate is carried 
in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of net assets of the associate, less 
any impairment in value. The consolidated
income statement reflects the Group’s share
of the results of operations of the associates.

Where there has been a change recognised
directly in the associate’s equity, the Group
recognises its share of any changes and
discloses this, when applicable in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(e) Taxi License Plates
Taxi license plates are valued at cost, and are
now classified as Intangibles in accordance
with AASB 136 Intangible assets.

(f) Fixed Term Taxi Licenses
Fixed term taxi licenses are valued at cost
less a proportional charge to expense based
on the term of the licences.

(g) Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially 
all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset, but not the legal
ownership, are transferred to entities in the
Economic Entity are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised,
recording an asset and a liability equal 
to the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed 
residual values.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight
line basis over the estimated useful lives
where it is likely that the Economic Entity will
obtain ownership of the asset or over the
term of the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between the
reduction of the lease liability and the lease
interest expense for the period.

Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as expenses in
the periods in which they are incurred.

(h) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings are valued at
cost. Plant and equipment is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the item.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the
consolidated entity and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation
Property (excluding freehold land), plant and
equipment is depreciated at rates based upon
their expected useful lives using the straight
line method.

The depreciation rates used for each major
class of asset are:

Buildings 1% to 2.5%

Furniture, fittings, plant 
and equipment 5% to 33%

EFTPOS Equipment 16.67%

(i) Goodwill on Consolidation
Goodwill, representing the excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired, is recognised as an asset
and not amortised, but tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication
that the goodwill may be impaired, any
impairment is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss and is not subsequently
reversed.

(j) Patents and Trademarks
Patents and trademarks are recognised at
cost of acquisition. Patents and trademarks
have a finite life and are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Patents and trademarks
are amortised over their useful life ranging
from 15 to 20 years.
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1 Statement of Significant
Accounting Policies
continued

(k) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the Economic Entity
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible
and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
An impairment loss is recognised in profit 
or loss immediately.

Impairment testing is performed annually for
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
lives.

Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

(l) Cash
For purposes of the statement of cash flows,
cash includes deposits at call which are
readily convertible to cash on hand and
which are used in the cash management
function on a day-to-day basis, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.

(m) Research and Development
Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period 
as incurred.

(n) Revenue
Taxi service fee revenue is recognised upon
billing of the service to the customer and is
disclosed net of Goods and Services Tax
(“GST”), where applicable.

Taxi depot and leasing fees are billed every
28 days in advance. Operating revenue
receipts relating to years beyond the current
financial year are shown in the Balance
Sheet as unearned revenue under the
heading of Current Liabilities – Trade and
other payables.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the
right to dividend has been established.
Dividends received from associates are
accounted for in accordance with the equity
method of accounting.

Total turnover
Total turnover does not represent revenue 
in accordance with Accounting Standards.
Turnover represents the value of taxi hire
charges (fares) plus Cabcharge’s account
service fee plus revenue from other sources.
Cabcharge’s revenue is derived from
turnover. Taxi hire charges are GST inclusive
since the GST is embedded in taxis’ metered
fares and liability for the GST rests with the
taxi driver.

(o) Employee Entitlements
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages,
salaries and annual leave represent the
present obligations resulting from employees’
services provided up to reporting date.
The provisions have been calculated at
undiscounted amounts based on expected
wage and salary rates that the consolidated
entity expects to pay as at reporting date and
include related on-costs, such as workers’
compensation insurance and payroll tax.

Long service leave
The provision for employee benefits to long
service leave represents the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows to be
made by the consolidated entity resulting
from employees’ services provided up to the
reporting date. The provision is calculated
using expected future increases in wage and
salary rates including related on-costs and
expected settlement dates based on turnover
history and is discounted using the rates
attaching to national government bonds at
reporting date which most closely match the
terms of maturity of the related liabilities.
The unwinding of the discount is treated as
long service leave expense.

Superannuation plans
The Economic Entity contributes to an
accumulation benefit type fund for the
benefit of employees or their dependants 
on retirement, resignation, disablement or
death. The Economic Entity contributes a
percentage of individual employees’ gross
income and employees may make additional
contributions on a voluntary basis.

(p) Income Tax
The charge for current income tax expenses
is based on the profit for the year adjusted
for the year adjusted for any non-assessable
or disallowed items. It is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or are
substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method in respect of
temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements.
No deferred income tax will be recognised
from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability, excluding a business combination,
where there is no effect on accounting or
taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or liability is
settled. Deferred tax is credited in the
income statement except where it relates to
items that may be credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax is adjusted
directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future
tax profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The amount of benefits brought to account
or which may be realised in the future is
based on the assumption that no adverse
change will occur in income taxation
legislation and the anticipation that the
Economic Entity will derive sufficient future
assessable income to enable the benefit to
be realised and comply with the conditions
of deductibility imposed by the law.

Tax consolidation
The Company and its wholly-owned
Australian resident entities have formed a 
tax consolidated group and are therefore
taxed as a single entity. The head entity
within the tax consolidated group is
Cabcharge Australia Limited.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from
temporary differences of the members of the
tax consolidated group are recognised in the
separate financial statements of the
members of the tax consolidated group using
the ‘group allocation’ method consistent with
UIG 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and
deferred tax assets arising from unused 
tax losses of the subsidiaries are assumed
by the head entity in the tax-consolidated
group and are recognised as amounts
payable (receivable) to (from) other entities 
in the tax-consolidated group.
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1 Statement of Significant
Accounting Policies
continued

(q) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated
by dividing the net profit for the reporting
period by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of the company.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net
profit for the reporting period by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding including dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

(r) Segment reporting
Financing costs incurred by the Economic
Entity that are directly attributable to the
equity accounted business (bus & coach
services) are re-allocated from the Economic
Entity to the associate’s results as presented
in the Segment Reporting note.

(s) Financial Instruments
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured
at cost on trade date, which includes
transaction costs, when the related
contractual rights or obligations exist.
Subsequent to initial recognition these
instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term or if so designated
by management and within the requirements
of AASB 139: Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Instruments. Realised and
unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of these assets are
included in the income statement in the
period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.

Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have fixed maturities,
and it is the group’s intention to hold these
investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity
investments held by the group are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets include
any financial assets not included in the
above categories. Available-for-sale financial
assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are taken directly to equity.

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are
recognised at amortised cost, comprising
original debt less principal payments and
amortisation.

(t) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST, except
where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.
In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or as part of an item of the
expense. Receivables and payables in the
balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow
statement on a gross basis, except for the
GST component of investing and financing
activities, which are disclosed as operating
cash flows.

(u) Comparative figures
When required by Accounting Standards,
comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform to changes in presentation for the
current financial year.

(v) Rounding of Amounts
The parent entity has applied the relief
available to it under ASIC Class Order
98/100 and accordingly, amounts in the
financial report and directors’ report have
been rounded off to the nearest $1,000.

Critical Accounting Estimates 
and Judgments
The Directors evaluate estimates and
judgments incorporated into the financial
report based on historical knowledge and
best available current information. Estimates
assume a reasonable expectation of future
events and are based on current trends and
economic data, obtained both externally and
within the group.

Key Estimates – Impairment
The group assesses impairment at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions
specific to the group that may lead to
impairment of assets. Where an impairment
trigger exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is determined. Value-in-use
calculations performed in assessing
recoverable amounts incorporate a number
of key estimates. Refer note 12 c) for details
of sensitivity.

Impairment loss in relation to trade
receivables is not considered likely to exceed
the amount shown in note 6.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2 Revenue
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total Turnover * 883,296 779,320 839,642  728,188 

Included in revenue are the following items:

Operating activities

Taxi service fee income 69,086 55,604 69,086 55,604 

Members taxi related services 48,763 45,104 –  –

Dividends received

– wholly-owned subsidiaries –  – 13,781 –

– other corporations 164 160 161 158

Interest received

– other persons 2,194 2,537 751 1,035

Rental revenue 302 139 98 112

Other revenue 10,226 9,991 3,204 6,180

Total operating revenue 130,735 113,535 87,081 63,089 

Non-operating activities

Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment 115 81 – –

Total other income 115 81 – –

* Total Turnover

Total turnover does not represent revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards. Total turnover represents the value of taxi hire charges (fares) plus
Cabcharge’s account service fee plus revenue from other sources. Cabcharge’s revenue is derived from turnover. Cabcharge’s credit risk is based on
turnover rather than revenue.

3 Expenses
Profit before related income tax includes the following expenses:

Finance costs

Other persons 2,442 502 2,018 –

Depreciation of non-current assets # 9,299 10,811 5,546 6,775

Bad and doubtful debts – trade debtors 779 609 489 490

# In 2004 financial year, EFTPOS equipment operating on the now obsolete Telstra Mobile Data Network was re-assessed as to remaining useful life such
that all the equipment would be written off by the end of the 2005 financial year, after which time only new technology GPRS EFTPOS equipment would
be in use. Additional depreciation charge in 2005 year arising from that re-assessment of useful life was $1,934,000. Depreciation charge in 2006 year
is now restored to a normal charge based on the assessed 6 year life of the new technology equipment.

4 Income Tax Expense
Cabcharge Australia Ltd and its wholly owned Australian resident subsidiaries 
form a tax consolidated group. The current tax rate applicable to the group is 30%.

Current income tax expense

Current year 15,052 11,728 10,585 8,363

Adjustments for prior year (370) (639) (341) (426)

Total income tax expense in the Income Statements 14,682 11,089 10,244 7,937
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

4 Income Tax Expense continued

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The prima-facie tax on profit from ordinary activities before income tax is 
reconciled to the income tax as follows:

Prima-facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities before income tax at 
30% (2005: 30%)

— Economic Entity 15,811 11,661 – –

— parent entity – – 14,707 8,283

Add tax effect of:

Non-deductible Depreciation 29 29 7 81

Timing differences and tax losses not brought to account 4 11 – 2

Other Non Allowable items 27 142 7 110

15,871 11,843 14,721 8,476

Less tax effect of:

Rebatable fully franked dividends (2) (5) (4,136) (3)

Over provision for income tax in prior year (344) (536) (341) (536)

Share of net profit of associate (753) – – –

Other items (90) (213) – –

Income tax expense attributable to profit from ordinary activities before income tax 14,682 11,089 10,244 7,937

Income tax expense 14,682 11,089 10,244 7,937

Effective tax rate on pre-tax profit 27.90% 28.50% 20.90% 28.70%

5 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank 2,943 3,257 477 2,151

Deposits at call 30,241 35,002 2,565 5,463

Balance per statement of cash flows 33,184 38,259 3,042 7,614

6 Trade and other receivables
Trade debtors 47,953 41,583 43,618 38,094

Accumulated impairment loss (1,245) (919) (996) (705)

46,708 40,664 42,622 37,389

Amounts receivable from:

Wholly owned subsidiaries – – 5,515 7,195

Other debtors 12,146 10,581 4,033 3,709

58,854 51,245 52,170 48,293

7 Inventories
At lower of cost and net realisable value

Parts, safety cameras and sundries – at cost 774 682 – –
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8 Financial Assets
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Market value of listed investments

Shares in other listed corporations 2,710 2,675 2,682 2,638

Unlisted investments available for sale 

Shares in controlled entities – – 169,095 169,095

Shares in other corporations 2,600 3,090 57,876 2,849

5,310 5,765 229,653 174,582

9 Associated Companies
Principal Country of Reporting

Name Activities Incorporation Period Ownership Interest Carry amount of investment

2006 2005 2006 2005
% % $’000   $’000

ComfortDelgro Bus & coach
Cabcharge Pty Ltd services Australia 31-December 49 – 58,054 –

Economic Entity

2006 2005
$’000   $’000

(a) Movements During the Year in Equity Accounted Investment in Associated Companies

Balance at beginning of the financial year – –

New investments during the year 55,544 –   

Share of associated company’s profit after income tax 2,510 –   

Balance at end of the financial year 58,054 –   

(b) Equity accounted profits of associates are broken down as follows:

Share of associate’s profit before income tax expense 3,590 –   

Share of associate’s income tax expense (1,080) –   

Share of associate’s profit after income tax 2,510 –   

(c) Summarised Presentation of Aggregate Assets, Liabilities and Performance of Associates 
(all 100% figures)

Current assets 19,889 –   

Non-current assets 117,256 –      

Total assets 137,145 –      

Current liabilities 16,733 –      

Non-current liabilities 4,600 –      

Total liabilities 21,333 –      

Net assets 115,812 –      

Revenues 80,023 –      

Profit after income tax of associates 5,122 –      
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10 Property, Plant and Equipment
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   

(a) Composition 

Land – at cost 7,505 7,505 2,100 2,100 

Buildings – at cost 8,302 8,302 2,214 2,214

Accumulated depreciation (1,099) (866) (346) (324)

7,203 7,436 1,868 1,890

Total land and buildings 14,708 14,941 3,968 3,990

Furniture, fittings, plant and equipment – at cost 19,130 20,455 3,971 3,582

Accumulated depreciation (12,839) (11,629) (2,887) (2,586)

6,291 8,826 1,084 996

Eftpos equipment – at cost 30,124 27,385 30,124 27,385

Accumulated depreciation (14,835) (9,612) (14,835) (9,612)

15,289 17,773 15,289 17,773

36,288 41,540 20,341 22,759

Furniture,
fittings,

Land & plant and Eftpos
Buildings equipment  equipment Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

ECONOMIC ENTITY

Balance at the beginning of the year 14,941 8,826 17,773 41,540

Other additions – 1,563 2,739 4,302

Disposals – (255) – (255)

Depreciation expense (233) (3,843) (5,223) (9,299)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 14,708 6,291 15,289 36,288

PARENT ENTITY

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,990 996 17,773 22,759

Additions – 389 2,739 3,128

Depreciation expense (22) (301) (5,223) (5,546)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,968 1,084 15,289 20,341

(c) Note on fair market value of land and buildings

The current fair market value of the Economic Entity’s land and buildings as of 30 June 2006 is $24,075,000. This is based on recent valuations conducted
by an independent valuer.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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11 Deferred tax assets
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The balance comprises tax effects on:

Provision for doubtful debts 373 255 299 211

Provision for employee entitlements 1,886 1,497 1,302 530

Accruals/others 688 108 665 23

Other timing differences (347) (264) (230) (149)

AIFRS – Adjustment to tax cost bases of past business acquisition 1,890 1,890 – –

Tax losses 293 503 – –

4,783 3,989 2,036 615

Opening Charged Closing
balance to income Acquisitions balance

ECONOMIC ENTITY

Movements 2006:

Provision for doubtful debts 255 118 – 373

Provision for employee entitlements 1,497 389 – 1,886

Accruals/others 108 580 – 688

Other timing differences (264) (83) – (347)

AIFRS – Adjustment to tax cost bases of past business acquisition 1,890 – – 1,890

Tax losses 503 (210) – 293

3,989 794 – 4,783

Movements 2005:

Provision for doubtful debts 300 (45) – 255

Provision for employee entitlements 1,414 83 – 1,497

Other timing differences (215) 59 – (156)

AIFRS – Adjustment to tax cost bases of past business acquisition 1,890 – – 1,890

Tax losses 609 (106) – 503

3,998 (9) – 3,989

PARENT ENTITY

Movements 2006:

Provision for doubtful debts 211 88 – 299

Provision for employee entitlements 530 772 – 1,302

Accruals/others 23 642 – 665

Other timing differences (149) (81) – (230)

615 1,421 – 2,036

Movements 2005:

Provision for doubtful debts 189 22 – 211

Provision for employee entitlements 489 41 – 530

Accruals/others 14 9 23

Other timing differences (120) (29) – (149)

572 43 – 615
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12 Intangibles assets
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Composition 

Goodwill 11,342 8,742 5,506 2,906

Accumulated Impairment loss – – – –

11,342 8,742 5,506 2,906

Investment in Taxi Plates 19,520 17,903 – –

Accumulated Impairment loss – – – –

19,520 17,903 – –

Intellectual Property at cost 685 685 – –

Accumulated Impairment loss – – – –

685 685 – –

31,547 27,330 5,506 2,906

Intellectual
Goodwill Taxi plates Property Total 

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

ECONOMIC ENTITY

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,742 17,903 685 27,330

Acquisitions 2,600 1,617 – 4,217

Balance at the end of the year 11,342 19,520 685 31,547

PARENT ENTITY

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,906 – – 2,906

Acquisitions 2,600 – – 2,600

Balance at the end of the year 5,506 – – 5,506

(c) Impairment testing

Intangible assets including goodwill have been tested for impairment as shown in the table below and no impairment losses apply. Assessment of the
recoverable amount for each asset has been performed using a value-in-use calculation. To determine value-in-use, projected future cash flows (in each
case with a conservative nil growth consumption) have been discounted using risk adjusted pre-tax discount rates of between 9 and 10% as shown in 
the table below. The relevant cash generating unit (“CGU”) used in the discounted cash flow calculations comes from (1) Black Cabs’ operation (BCC); 
(2) Combined Communications’ operation (CCN); or (3) Cabcharge Taxi Charges (CAB)

Intangible detail CGU Book value Discount rate Impairment loss

2006 2005 
$’000 $’000

Goodwill

Black Cabs’ goodwill on acquisition BCC 6,055 6,055 10% –

Cabcharge account customer acquisitions CAB 2,658 2,658 9% –

South Western Cabs taxi customer base CCN 2,600 – 9% –

ABC Taxis goodwill on acquisition CCN 29 29 9% –

Goodwill Total 11,342 8,742 – –

Investment in Taxi Plates

Taxi licences BCC/CCN 19,520 17,903 10% –

Intellectual Property

Speech Recognition CCN 685 685 10% –

31,547 27,330 –

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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13 Non-Current Asset – Other
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
$’000   $’000   $’000 $’000   

Prepaid fixed term taxi licences at cost 1,623 1,623 – –

Accumulated amortisation (1,623) (1,455) – –

– 168 – –

14 Trade and Other Payables
Trade creditors 2,069 1,994 863 13,655 

Other creditors and accruals 9,033 8,815 9,004 4,062 

Unearned revenue 1,431 1,307 – –

12,533 12,116 9,867 17,717

15 Short-Term Borrowings
Unsecured loans 5,350 7,281 – –

Hire purchase liabilities (note 32d) 496 440 – –

Bank Bills 10,005 58 10,000 –

15,851 7,779 10,000 –

The unsecured loans are at-call and bear variable market interest rates (current year at 4.75%). All bank bills are denominated in Australian dollars. The bank
bills are secured by a registered first mortgage over all commercial properties and first registered charge over the fixed and floating assets of the Cabcharge
group. Within the bank bill facility, $10m is repayable on a short-term basis with the remaining $30m maturing in September 2010.

16 Current Tax Liabilities
Income tax 6,918 3,182 6,896 3,126 

17 Short-Term Provisions
Employee entitlements 2,763 2,468 1,777 908 

18 Non Interest Bearing Liabilities – within the group – Non-current
Amount owing to subsidiary company – – 117,094 117,094

19 Long-Term borrowings
Bank bills 30,000 – 30,000 –

Hire purchase liabilities (note 32d) 38 477 – –

30,038 477 30,000 –

20 Deferred Tax Liabilities
Deferred tax Liabilities 394 384 394 384 

21 Long-Term Provisions
Employee entitlements 3,524 2,522 2,564 860 

Aggregate provision for employee entitlements 6,287 4,990 4,341 1,768
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22 Issued Share Capital
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
(number) (number) (number) (number)

(a) Composition and movement in issued capital (number of shares)

Composition of Issued Capital

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 112,233,057 112,233,057 112,233,057 112,233,057 

Movements in Ordinary Shares

Number at the beginning of the reporting period 112,233,057 112,058,057 112,233,057 113,474,698 

Issue of shares during the reporting period – 175,000 – 175,000 

Buy-back of cross-holding shares – (1,416,641) – (1,416,641)

Reversal of last year’s elimination – 1,416,641 – –

– – – (1,416,641)

Number at end of reporting period 112,233,057 112,233,057 112,233,057 112,233,057 

2006 2005 2006 2005 
$’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   

(b) Composition and movement in issued capital (dollars)

Composition of Issued Capital

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 72,431 72,431 72,431 72,431 

Movements in Ordinary Shares

Paid up amount at the beginning of the reporting period 72,431 71,791 72,431 76,508 

Issue of shares during the reporting period – 640 – 640 

Buy-back of cross-holding shares – (5,680) – (5,680)

Reversal of last year’s elimination – 4,717 – –

Transfer from share repurchase reserve – 963 – 963 

Paid up amount at end of reporting period 72,431 72,431 72,431 72,431 

(c) Options over unissued shares

No options were granted during the year and there were no options outstanding at the end of the financial year.

(d) Terms and conditions applicable to Ordinary Shares

Holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. In
the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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23 Explanation of transition to AIFRS
As stated in note 1(a), this is the Company’s and the Economic Entity’s first annual financial report prepared in accordance with AIFRS.

In preparing its opening AIFRS balance sheet, comparative information for the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005, the Company and
Economic Entity have adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with their old basis of accounting (previous
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP)).

An explanation of how the transition from AGAAP to AIFRS has affected the Economic Entity and the Company’s balance sheet and income statement is set out
in the following tables and notes accompanying the tables.

Reconciliation of equity

1 July 2004 30 June 2005

Effect of Effect of 
Previous transition Previous transition

AGAAP to AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP to AIFRS AIFRS

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ECONOMIC ENTITY

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 45,616 45,616 38,259 38,259 

Trade and other receivables 46,885 46,885 51,245 51,245 

Inventories 978 978 682 682 

Total Current Assets 93,479 – 93,479 90,186 – 90,186 

Non-Current Assets

Financial assets (a) 20,471 (15,355) 5,116 23,668 (17,903) 5,765 

Property, plant and equipment 33,059 33,059 41,540 41,540 

Intangible assets (b) 8,703 15,355 24,058 8,875 18,455 27,330 

Deferred tax assets (c) 2,108 1,890 3,998 2,099 1,890 3,989 

Other 584 584 168 168 

Total Non-Current Assets 64,925 1,890 66,815 76,350 2,442 78,792 

Total Assets 158,404 1,890 160,294 166,536 2,442 168,978 

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11,416 11,416 12,116 12,116 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
– Current 9,762 9,762 7,779 7,779 

Current tax liabilities 4,869 4,869 3,182 3,182 

Provisions-Current 2,427 2,427 2,468 2,468 

Total Current Liabilities 28,474 – 28,474 25,545 – 25,545 

Non-Current Liabilities

Non-interest bearing liability 
– within the Group –   –

Deferred tax liabilities (d) – 235 235 – 384 384 

Interest bearing liabilities 916 916 477 477 

Provisions 2,285 2,285 2,522 2,522 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 3,201 235 3,436 2,999 384 3,383 

Total Liabilities 31,675 235 31,910 28,544 384 28,928 

Net Assets 126,729 1,655 128,384 137,992 2,058 140,050 

Equity

Contributed equity 71,791 71,791 72,431 72,431 

Reserves (e) 788 (235) 553 1,284 (384) 900 

Retained Profits (f) 54,150 1,890 56,040 64,277 2,442 66,719 

Total Equity 126,729 1,655 128,384 137,992 2,058 140,050 
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23 Explanation of transition to AIFRS continued
1 July 2004 30 June 2005

Effect of Effect of 
Previous transition Previous transition

AGAAP to AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP to AIFRS AIFRS

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

PARENT ENTITY

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14,317 14,317 7,614 7,614 

Trade and other receivables (g) 41,408 1,536 42,944 46,809 1,484 48,293 

Total Current Assets 55,725 1,536 57,261 54,423 1,484 55,907 

Non-Current Assets

Financial assets 173,121 173,121 174,582 174,582 

Property, plant and equipment 14,478 14,478 22,759 22,759 

Intangible assets (b) 2,116 2,116 2,658 248 2,906 

Deferred tax assets (g) 2,108 (1,536) 572 2,099 (1,484) 615 

Total Non-Current Assets 191,823 (1,536) 190,287 202,098 (1,236) 200,862 

Total Assets 247,548 – 247,548 256,521 248 256,769 

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 6,111 6,111 17,717 17,717 

Current tax liabilities 4,880 4,880 3,126 3,126 

Provisions-Current 861 861 908 908 

Total Current Liabilities 11,852 – 11,852 21,751 – 21,751 

Non-Current Liabilities

Non-interest bearing liability 
– within the Group 117,094 117,094 117,094 117,094 

Deferred tax liabilities (d) – 235 235 – 384 384 

Provisions 770 770 860 860 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 117,864 235 118,099 117,954 384 118,338 

Total Liabilities 129,716 235 129,951 139,705 384 140,089 

Net Assets 117,832 (235) 117,597 116,816 (136) 116,680 

Equity

Contributed equity 76,508 76,508 72,431 72,431 

Reserves (e) 768 (235) 533 1,260 (384) 876 

Retained Profits (f) 40,556 40,556 43,125 248 43,373 

Total Equity 117,832 (235) 117,597 116,816 (136) 116,680 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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23 Explanation of transition to AIFRS continued
Reconciliation of profit

Economic Entity Parent Entity
Year ended 30 June 2005 Year ended 30 June 2005

Effect of Effect of
Previous transition Previous transition 

Notes AGAAP to AIFRS* AIFRS AGAAP to AIFRS* AIFRS

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue (h) 780,119 (666,584) 113,535 728,188 (665,099) 63,089  

Other income (h) – 81 81 – – –

Taxi hire charges (h) (665,785) 665,785 – (665,785) 665,785 – 

Fees to taxi networks (8,869) – (8,869) (12,863) – (12,863)

Costs of members taxi related services (17,551) – (17,551) – – –

Employee benefits expense (22,951) – (22,951) (6,354) – (6,354)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (b) (11,363) 552 (10,811) (7,023) 248 (6,775)

Financial expenses (502) – (502) – – –

Other expenses (h) (14,779) 718 (14,061) (8,554) (686) (9,240)

Profit before income tax expense 38,319 552 38,871 27,609 248 27,857 

Income tax expense (11,089) –   (11,089) (7,937) –   (7,937)

Profit attributable to members of 
Cabcharge Australia Ltd 27,230 552 27,782 19,672 248 19,920 

* includes accounting policy change for revenue (re treatment of taxi hire charges – see note 37)

(a) Taxi licence reclassification from Financial assets to Intangibles
In the Economic Entity, the carrying value of taxi licence plates has been reclassified to Intangibles in accordance with AASB 138 Intangible Assets.
This amounts to $15,355,000 at 1 July 2004 and $17,903,000 at 30 June 2005.

(b) Intangibles – Goodwill no longer amortised
As noted in a) taxi licence plates are now included in this total.

Previously, goodwill was amortised. Under AIFRS goodwill is no longer amortised, but is tested annually for impairment. The impact is to increase the carrying
value of intangibles by $552,000 (and reduce depreciation and amortisation by the same amount) at 30 June 2005 (Economic Entity) and $248,000 
(Parent Entity).

(c) Deferred tax assets recognised from balance sheet method of tax effect accounting
A deferred tax asset of $1,890,000 arises in the Economic Entity from recognising a cost base difference between accounting and tax cost bases on a
previous business combination. This results in a corresponding credit to retained earnings at 1 July 2004.

(d) Deferred tax liabilities recognised from balance sheet method of tax effect accounting
Deferred tax liabilities arise from revaluation of available-for-sale-securities to market value. This change has resulted in recognising a deferred tax liability
and a corresponding reduction in the asset revaluation reserve.

(e) Reserves change due to deferred tax change
As noted in (d) above, the asset revaluation reserve balance is reduced by the impact of deferred income tax liability on the revalued amounts.

(f) Retained profits change due to deferred tax asset and goodwill amortisation
As noted in (b) above, the retained profits is increased by the impact of reversing goodwill amortisation (no longer amortised) and, in (c) above, the
deferred income tax asset recognised.

(g) Reallocation of deferred tax balances in the Parent (to intercompany receivables)
In accordance with UIG 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting, deferred tax balances applicable to subsidiary companies have been reclassified as
intercompany receivables.

(h) Proceeds on sale of equipment excluded from revenue plus exclusion of taxi hire charges from revenue
Proceeds on sale of equipment are excluded from revenue with the corresponding cost base of assets sold also being excluded from other expenses.
Taxi hire charges have also been excluded from revenue (refer change of policy note 37)
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24 Dividends
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The following fully franked dividends were paid, franked at tax rate of 30%

2006 year interim – 10.0 cents 11,222 – 11,222 –

2005 year final – 9.0 cents 10,101 – 10,101 –

2005 year interim – 8.0 cents – 8,979 – 8,979 

2004 year final – 7.25 cents – 8,124 – 8,124 

Total dividends paid 21,323 17,103 21,323 17,103

Dividends cents per share–Paid/Payable

Interim 10.00  8.00  10.00  8.00  

Final  13.00  9.00  13.00  9.00  

Total 23.00  17.00  23.00  17.00  

The final 13.00 cents per share dividend is scheduled for payment on 18 October 2006.

25 Earnings per Share
Weighted average number of fully paid ordinary shares outstanding during  
the year used in calculation of basic EPS 112,233,057  112,161,619

As there are no unexercised options (and there were none in the previous year) the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in
calculation of diluted EPS is the same as for basic EPS.

2006 2005
$’000 $’000   

26 Dividend Franking Balances
Balance at the end of the financial year including franking credits arising from 
income tax payable in respect of the financial year. 42,775 35,864 

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends.

The franking balance is disclosed on the income tax paid basis. Therefore, based on a 30% tax rate, fully franked dividends amounting to $99.8m could
potentially be paid to shareholders. The tax consequences of payment of a dividend is to record a debit to the dividend franking account.

27 Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) Compensation
(a) Names and positions held within Economic and Parent Entity KMP in office at any time during the financial year are:

Name of KMP Dates (if not full year) Position

Mr RL Kermode Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr E Barukh Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mr IA Armstrong Non-executive Director

Mr ND Ford Non-executive Director

Mr PJ Franet Non-executive Director

Mr PJ Hyer Non-executive Director

Mr DS McMichael Non-executive Director

Mr NK Wran Non-executive Director

Mr F Lukabyo Chief Operating Officer of Combined Communications Network

Ms S Doyle Company Secretary & Corporate Counsel

Mr G Bradd until 1 March 2006 Chief Operating Officer of Black Cabs Combined

Mr A Skelton from 1 March 2006 * Chief Operating Officer of Black Cabs Combined (General Manager prior to 1 March 2006)

Ms A Rein from 31 October 2005 Chief Executive–People and Business Improvement

* As Mr Skelton was employed in a senior role during the full financial year, his remuneration for the full year has been shown in note (c) below.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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27 Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) Compensation continued
(b) Compensation practices

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of compensation for KMP for the group is as follows:

The compensation structure for KMP is based on a number of factors including length of service, particular experience of the individual concerned, and overall
performance of the Company. Contracts for service between the Company and KMP are on a continuing basis, the terms of which are not expected to change
in the immediate future. Upon retirement, KMP are paid employee benefit entitlements accrued to the date of retirement. KMP are paid a percentage of their
salary in the event of redundancy.

The Cabcharge group seeks to emphasise payment for results through providing cash bonus reward schemes, specifically the incorporation of incentive
payments to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer based on achievement of profit targets. These are determined by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time and are approved by the Board.

The bonuses included in note 27c) are based on these targets. The objective of the reward scheme is to reinforce both short- and long-term goals of the group
and to provide a connection of interest between management and shareholders. The bonuses were granted on 29 October 2005.

Non-executive Directors receive fees only and are not paid performance based payments.

There are no service agreements and no fixed terms for the Executive Directors. For Executive Directors, a base salary package and performance bonus is
determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board from time to time.

There are service agreements for other executive KMP, the major provisions of which are 3 year terms with 3 months notice of termination or redundancy required.

(c) KMP compensation:

Post-employment 
Short-term benefits benefits

Cash bonus 
Cash salary Non-cash (performance Superannuation Performance

and fees benefits related) contributions Total 2006 related 

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) %

2006 year:

Mr RL Kermode 1,303,270 22,718 350,000 – 1,675,988 21%

Mr E Barukh 540,380 97,480 195,000 12,140 845,000 23%

Mr IA Armstrong 6,900 – – 80,637 87,537 –

Mr ND Ford 80,310 – – 7,227 87,537 –

Mr PJ Franet 32,872 – – 47,321 80,193 –

Mr PJ Hyer 80,310 – – 7,227 87,537 –

Mr DS McMichael 73,572 – – 6,621 80,193 –

Mr NK Wran 87,537 – – – 87,537 –

Mr F Lukabyo 310,660 21,248 – 16,066 347,974 –

Ms S Doyle 386,773 10,777 – 12,373 409,923 –

Mr G Bradd 127,680 29,574 – 92,450 249,704 –

Mr A Skelton 201,198 14,250 – 19,272 234,720 –

Ms A Rein 179,694 – – 17,937 197,631 –

Total remuneration for KMP for 2006 year 3,411,156 196,047 545,000 319,271 4,471,474 

2005 year:

Mr RL Kermode 1,158,846 14,564 388,350 – 1,561,760 25%

Mr E Barukh 468,526 105,388 195,000 88,586 857,500 23%

Mr IA Armstrong 6,900 – – 61,560 68,460 –

Mr ND Ford 62,805 – – 5,655 68,460 –

Mr PJ Franet 57,550 – – 5,180 62,730 –

Mr PJ Hyer 62,805 – – 5,655 68,460 –

Mr DS McMichael 57,550 – – 5,180 62,730 –

Mr NK Wran 68,460 – – – 68,460 –

Mr F Lukabyo 284,000 7,612 – 11,808 303,420 –

Ms S Doyle 297,494 12,585 – 12,864 322,943 –

Mr G Bradd 181,841 24,568 – 93,591 300,000 –

Total remuneration for KMP for 2005 year 2,706,777 164,717 583,350 290,079 3,744,923 
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27 Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) Compensation continued
(d) Number of shares held (directly or indirectly) by KMP:

Balance at Received as Balance at
beginning of year compensation Net change * end of year

Mr RL Kermode 1,500,000 – (453,151) 1,046,849 

Mr E Barukh 571,107 – (150,000) 421,107 

Mr IA Armstrong 250,000 – – 250,000 

Mr ND Ford 1,965,736 – (631,313) 1,334,423 

Mr PJ Franet 350,370 – – 350,370 

Mr PJ Hyer 1,171,260 – – 1,171,260 

Mr DS McMichael 8,330 – – 8,330 

Mr NK Wran 250,000 – – 250,000 

Mr F Lukabyo 3,850 – (1,400) 2,450 

Ms S Doyle 2,500 – – 2,500 

Mr G Bradd 30,000 – (25,000) 5,000 

Mr A Skelton – – – –

Ms A Rein – – – –

6,103,153 – (1,260,864) 4,842,289 

* Net change refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year.

28 Remuneration of Auditors

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
(number) (number) (number) (number)

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for –

Auditing or reviewing the financial report 225 199 145 125 

Other services–taxation compliance 24 20 25 14 

Remuneration of other auditors of subsidiary for –

Auditing or reviewing the financial report of subsidiaries 6 7 – –

Other services 5 5 – –

29 Particulars Relating to Controlled Entities 
Group Group

Country of Incorporation Interest Interest

% %
2006 2005 

Combined Communications Network Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Taxi Combined Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Silver Service Taxis Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Yellow Cabs of Sydney Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Cabcharge International Limited Hong Kong 100 100 

Cabcharge New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100 100 

Cabcharge Investments Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Helpline Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Taxi Combined Services (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

TCS Communications (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Carbodies Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Combined Network Couriers Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Enterprise Speech Recognition Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Black Cabs Combined Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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29 Particulars Relating to Controlled Entities continued
Group Group

Country of Incorporation Interest Interest

% %
2006 2005 

North Suburban Taxis Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Yellow Cabs Victoria Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Access Communications Net Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Silver Service (Victoria) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

ABC Radio Taxi  Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Voci-Asia Pacific Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

South Western Cabs (Radio Room) Pty Ltd Australia 100 –

ComGroup Melbourne Pty Ltd Australia 100 50 

Cabcharge North America Ltd USA 93 93 

ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd (formerly Drycol Properties Pty Ltd) Australia # 100 

Westbus Region 3 Pty Ltd (formerly Transcharge Australia Pty Ltd) Australia # 100 

The Company has guaranteed financial support to these subsidiaries, if necessary, to enable them to meet their financial commitments.

# ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd (CDC) was formerly a dormant company within the Cabcharge group. Cabcharge’s interest in CDC was diluted to 
49% following an issue of shares by CDC to ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited. CDC is now the parent entity of a group of companies comprising the
“Westbus Group”. Cabcharge is equity accounting for this interest in the current year (see note 9).

Westbus Region 3 Pty Ltd was similarly a dormant company within the Cabcharge group. All shares in this company were transferred to CDC on 30 September
2005 for nominal consideration.

30 Superannuation Commitments
With the exception of those employees who have exercised Super Choice by advising their own choice of complying superannuation fund, all other employees
of the Economic Entity are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability, death, resignation or retrenchment from The De Luxe Cab Company Limited–AXA
Tailored Superannuation Plan (SFN 1837/839/40), NM Superannuation Pty Ltd (ABN 31 008 428 322)  Super Fund No.322 (AFS Licence No . 234654) acting
as trustee. The trustee is an “approved trustee” under the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). The administrator and insurer of the fund is
AXA Australia (ABN 72 004 020 437). This fund is an accumulation type fund based on employers’ contribution of 9% of the employee’s ordinary time
earnings, which is in accordance with the relevant Standards outlined in the Occupational Superannuation Standards Act, Superannuation Guarantee
(Administration) Act and Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act (SIS).

31 Related Party Information
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless
otherwise stated.

Transactions with related parties are as follows –

Nature of transaction Name Relationship 2006 2005 

(a) Fees paid or payable in Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd, Director related entity (Mr P Hyer) 973 891 
capacity as taxi company Northern Districts Taxis & Western District 

Taxis (Trading as Premier Cabs)

Queensland Taxi Investment Pty Ltd Director related entity (Mr N Ford) 1,308 1,091 
(Trading as Yellow Cabs)

Combined Communications Network Pty Ltd Related party 2,741 2,595 

Black Cabs Combined Pty Ltd Related party 1,110 1,001 

ABC Radio Taxi Pty Ltd Related party 101 107 

North Suburban Taxis Pty Ltd Related party 314 292 
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31 Related Party Information continued
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
Numbers Numbers Numbers Numbers

(b) Directors’ share transactions

Directors and Director-related entities hold directly, indirectly or beneficially as 
at the reporting date the following equity interests in the ordinary shares of 
Cabcharge Australia Limited. 4,831,539 6,066,803 4,831,539 6,066,803 

Movement during the year:

Number at the beginning of the year 6,066,803 6,529,014 6,066,803 6,529,014 

Adjustment to Mr ND Ford’s holding on account of NL Ford Nominees 
Pty Ltd Super Fund – 3,000 – 3,000 

Purchases – 7,500 – 7,500 

Share sales (note 31c) (1,235,264) (472,711) (1,235,264) (472,711)

Number at the end of the year 4,831,539 6,066,803 4,831,539  6,066,803 

(c) Share sales

Sales of Cabcharge shares by Directors (directly, indirectly or beneficially) were by Mr RL Kermode – 453,951 shares; Mr E Barukh – 150,000 Shares; 
Mr ND Ford – 131,313 Shares directly and 500,000 shares held by Queensland Taxi Investment (a related entity to Mr Ford).

(d) Other director-related transactions

Mr Wran transferred 65,200 directly held Cabcharge shares to Isiwood Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr Wran has an interest. These 65,200 shares are now
classified as an indirect interest for Mr Wran.

Motor vehicles to the value of $799,132 were purchased from N Ford during the year (2005:$280,703).

Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for EFTPOS equipment:

Payable not later than 1 year 2,000 2,500 2,000 2,500 

2,000 2,500 2,000 2,500 

32 Notes to the Cashflow
(a) Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities 

with profit from ordinary activities after income tax

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax 38,023 27,782 38,779 19,920 

Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary activities

Depreciation expense 9,299 10,811 5,546 6,775 

Net (profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (115) (81) – –

Net loss on sale of non-current assets 189 – 214 –

Non cash finance costs 298 373 – –

Other Non cash expenses 168 485 – –

Share of associated companies net profit after income tax (2,510) – – –

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase of subsidiaries –

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other debtors (7,609) (4,112) (3,877) (5,386)

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (92) 296 – –

Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accruals 417 700 (7,850) 5,925 

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 1,297 278 2,573 137 

Movement in income taxes payable 3,736 (1,687) 3,770 (1,754)

Movement in deferred tax balances (784) 9 (1,421) 9 

Net cash provided by operating activities 42,317 34,854 37,734 25,626 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued



Cabcharge Australia Limited 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 51

32 Notes to the Cashflow continued
Economic Entity Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Financial Facilities

Bank Overdraft and Loan Limits

Overdraft facility 4,250 4,250 3,500 3,500 

Bills Facility 31,000 1,000 30,000 – 

Hire Purchase Facility 1,571 1,571 – –

Standby multi-option facility 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 

Total Facility 51,821 21,821 48,500 18,500  

Amount used 40,534 975 40,000 –

Amount unused 11,287 20,846 8,500 18,500  

(c) Restricted Cash

There was no restricted cash on 30 June 2006.

(d) Hire Purchase Commitments

Minimum payments 554 983 – –

Less future finance charges (20) (66) – –

Total Hire Purchase Liability 534 917 – –

Payable

not later than 1 year 496 440 – –

later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 38 477 – –

Total Hire Purchase Liability 534 917 – –

33 Financial Instruments
(a) Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised at balance date, is as follows:

Floating interest rate Non-interest sensitive Carrying value Effective interest rate 

2006 year

Financial Assets

Cash at Bank/On Hand – 2,943 2,943 

Money market/Deposit 30,241 – 30,241 5.59% – 5.80%

Receivables – 58,854 58,854 

Investments – 5,310 5,310 

30,241 67,107 97,348 

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable – 12,533 12,533 

Unsecured and other loans 45,851 –   45,851 4.75% – 6.00%

45,851 12,533 58,384 

2005 year 

Financial Assets

Cash at Bank/On Hand – 3,257 3,257 

Money market/Deposit 35,002 – 35,002 4.20% – 5.59%

Receivables – 51,245 51,245 

Investments – 5,765 5,765 

35,002 60,267 95,269 
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33 Financial Instruments continued
Floating interest rate Non-interest sensitive Carrying value Effective interest rate 

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable – 12,116 12,116 

Unsecured loans 7,779 – 7,779 4.5%

7,779 12,116 19,895 

(b) Credit Risk Exposures

The Economic Entity’s maximum exposures to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to  recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts of those assets as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

The company minimised concentration of credit risk in relation to trade accounts receivable by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.
However, all the customers are concentrated in Australia.

Credit risk in Trade receivables is managed in the following ways:

— Payment terms are 28 days

— A risk assessment process is used for customers over 90 days; and

— Cash or Bank guarantee is obtained where appropriate.

(c) Net fair values

Valuation approach
Marketable shares included in “Other financial assets” are traded in an organised financial market. The net fair value of marketable shares is determined by
valuing them at the current quoted market sell price. The carrying amount of cash, deposits, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate net fair
value. Investments in unlisted securities are reflected at valuation – directors appraisals are undertaken as necessary to reflect substantial changes affecting
the net fair value of investments.

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date:

2006 year 2005 year

Carrying amount Net fair value Carrying amount Net fair value

Financial Assets

Cash on hand/bank 2,943 2,943 3,257 3,257 

Money market/deposits 30,241 30,241 35,002 35,002 

Receivables 58,854 58,854 51,245 51,245 

Investments 5,310 5,310 5,765 5,765 

97,348 97,348 95,269 95,269 

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable 12,533 12,533 12,116 12,116 

Unsecured loans 15,851 15,851 7,779 7,779 

28,384 28,384 19,895 19,895 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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34 Segment Reporting
The Economic Entity operates predominantly in one business and geographic segment being the provision of taxi related services in Australia. However,
an associate company (the interest in which was acquired this year – see note 9) which is equity accounted by Cabcharge operates in a different business
segment – being the provision of bus and coach services to customers predominantly in Australia.

Taxi related services Bus & coach services Economic Entity 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Primary reporting – business segments

Revenue

External revenue 130,735 113,535 – – 130,735  113,535 

Result

Reported result 50,195 38,871 – – 50,195 38,871 

Share of net profit of associates – – 2,510 – 2,510 –

Reallocation of interest expense 2,143 – (2,143) – – –

Profit before income tax 52,338 38,871 367 – 52,705 38,871 

Income tax (expense) benefit (15,325) (11,089) 643 – (14,682) (11,089)

Profit after income tax 37,013 27,782 1,010 – 38,023 27,782 

Other disclosures

Segment assets 170,740 168,978 – – 170,740 168,978 

Segment liabilities 32,011 28,928 40,000 – 72,011 28,928 

Other-investments accounted for using the 
equity method – – 58,054 – 58,054 –

Depreciation 9,299 10,811 NA NA 9,299 10,811 

35 Subsequent events
Dividend
The Directors have declared a final dividend of 13 cents per share (fully franked) scheduled to be paid on 18 October 2006. The record date to determine
entitlement to dividend was 20 September 2006.

Expansion of equity accounted operation
Cabcharge’s equity accounted associate ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd (“CDC” – see note 9) announced on 26 July 2006 that it had acquired the
Metropolitan Bus System Contract (“MBSC”) business and associated assets of Holroyd Bus Lines Pty Ltd (trading as Baxter’s Bus Lines).

Acquisition of new taxi plates in Queensland
In August 2006 Cabcharge was successful in the tender for 31 new taxi plates issued in Queensland. Cabcharge won the tender for 20 Multi-Purpose Taxi
(MPT) licences operating within the Gold Coast region, 10 MPT licences in the Brisbane region and 1 taxi licence in Brisbane for a total amount of $20 million.

36 Contingent liabilities
Court action

Cabcharge is involved in a claim for damages sought against it by the manufacturer of a taxi meter for alleged breaches of Sections 52 and 53 of the Trade
Practices Act 1974 in relation to its advertising of the XUS6000 meter. A cross-claim by Cabcharge has also been brought and it is expected that the matter
will be finalised in late 2006 or early 2007. The applicant has not quantified the amount of damages claimed if successful, but even if successful, any amount
awarded is not expected to be material.

It has come to the attention of the Board of Directors that during the process of discovery of documents relevant to proceedings there has been a failure to
discover a number of relevant documents. The Board is still reviewing the implications involved.

37 Change in reported revenue from preliminary final report (Appendix 4E)
Cabcharge has reviewed its revenue recognition policy following lodgment of the preliminary final report with the ASX. A change has been made to apply a very
strict revenue definition in accordance with the Accounting Standard AASB 118 whereby taxi hire charges billed by Cabcharge have now been excluded from
revenue. This change has no effect on profit, cash flows nor the Balance Sheet of Cabcharge. In the current year, the impact of the change has been to reduce
revenues by $753 million and correspondingly reduce expenses by the same amount. The prior year impact is $666 million (see transition note 23).
In order to properly explain the total transaction values for which Cabcharge is responsible, a notation is now made within the revenue note (note 2) to show
Total Turnover.
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The Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited (the “Company”) declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 28 to 53, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of the performance for the year ended on that date of the Company 
and Economic Entity;

2. the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that:

(a) the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

(b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and

(c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

3. in the Director’s opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Neville Wran Peter Hyer
Director Director

Sydney, 29 September 2006

Directors’ Declaration
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Scope
The financial report and Directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, accompanying notes to the financial
statements, and the Directors’ declaration for Cabcharge Australia Limited (the “Company”) and the Economic Entity for the year ended 30 June 2006.
The Economic Entity comprises both the Company and the entities it controlled during that year.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and
error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit Approach
We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the Company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is
influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgment, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive
rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including compliance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our
understanding of the Company’s and the Economic Entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations 
and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report, and

• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent of our procedures,
our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

Audit Opinion
In our opinion,

1. the financial report of Cabcharge Australia Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Economic Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of their performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

2. The remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures.

Blackett & Lewis 

Bryan E Bird
Partner

Sydney, 29 September 2006

Independent Audit Report
To the Members of Cabcharge Australia Limited
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(a) Distribution of Shareholders numbers

Range of No of %
shareholdings Shareholdings Shares of total

1 - 1000 1,633 1,181,107 1.05

1001 - 5000 3,244 8,352,475 7.44

5001 - 10000 898 5,986,796 5.33

10001 - 100000 708 19,786,400 17.63

100001 and over 94 76,926,279 68.55

Total 6,577 112,233,057 100

(b) The number of Shareholdings held in less than marketable
parcels is 21

(c) The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the
Company’s register

Number of
Name FPO shares held

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,156,644

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 9,591,274

National Nominees Limited 8,940,446

RBC Dexia Investor Services 8,488,295

(d) Voting rights – all shares hold the same voting rights

(e) 20 Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares

Number of FPO %
Rank Name shares held held

1 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,156,644 9.94

2 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 9,591,274 8.55

3 National Nominees Limited 8,940,446 7.97

4 RBC Dexia Investor Services 8,488,295 7.56

5 Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 4,004,151 3.57

6 ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash income a/c> 3,414,261 3.04

7 Legion Cabs (Trading) Co-Operative 
Society Limited 3,007,614 2.68

8 Swan Taxis Co-Operative Ltd 2,631,004 2.34

9 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,787,999 1.59

10 Arrow Taxi Services Limited 1,717,814 1.53

11 Queensland Investments Corporation 1,475,060 1.31

12 Sandhurst Trustees Ltd 1,211,778 1.08

13 Nefco Nominees Pty Ltd 1,062,676 0.95

14 Queensland Taxi Investment Limited 1,060,288 0.94

15 Reginald Lionel Kermode 1,046,849 0.93

16 Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd 1,004,593 0.90

17 IAG Nominees Pty Limited 987,239 0.88

18 Australian Reward Investment 986,510 0.88

19 Invia Custodian Pty Limited 818,286 0.73

20 Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd 654,654 0.58

65,047,435 57.95

Final Dividends 2006
Record date was 20 September 2006

Dividend payment date is 18 October 2006

Voting Rights
Subject to Cabcharge’s constitution –

(a) at a general meeting –

(i) on a show of hands, every member present has one vote; and

(ii) on a poll, every member present has one vote for each fully paid
share held by the member and in respect of which the member is
entitled to vote.

(b) at a general meeting each member entitled to vote at a meeting of
members may vote –

(i) in person or, where a member is a body corporate, by its
representative;

(ii) by not more than two proxies; or

(iii) by not more than two attorneys.

Australian Stock Exchange Listings
Cabcharge’s Ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange
(“ASX”) with Sydney being Cabcharge’s home exchange. The stock code
under which the shares trade is CAB. Trading results are published in most
large Australian daily newspapers.

Internet
Interim and final results are available on Cabcharge’s Internet home page:
(www.cabcharge.com.au).

Annual Report Not Required
Shareholders not wishing to receive the Annual Report, or who are receiving
more than one copy, should advise the share registry in writing, quoting 
their Shareholder Reference Number or Holder Identification Number.
Shareholders will still receive all other mailings. An “Annual Report 
Not Required” notice can be obtained from the share registry.

Tax File Numbers
The share registry is obliged to record Tax File Numbers (“TFN”) or
exemption details provided by Australian resident shareholders. While it is 
not compulsory to provide TFN’s or exemption details, Cabcharge is obliged 
to deduct withholding tax at the highest marginal rate, plus Medicare levy,
for any unfranked or partially franked dividends, paid to shareholders
resident in Australia who have not supplied TFN’s. Further information 
can be obtained from the share registry.

Australian Stock Exchange Information
Shareholdings as at 6 September 2006
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